
High Peak Borough Council

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE AGENDA

Date: Monday, 22 March 2021

Time: 1.30 pm

Venue: Virtual Meeting

You can view the agenda 
online by using a smart phone 
camera and scanning the code 
below:

12 March 2021

PART 1
1. Apologies for Absence 

2. To receive Disclosures of Interest on any matters before the Committee 
1. Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
2. Other Interests

3. Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 3 - 8)

4. Update Sheet 

5. Planning Applications (Pages 9 - 10)

6. HPK/2020/0515 Mount Pleasant Chapel, Spring Bank, New Mills, Derbyshire, SK22 
4AS - Redevelopment of the existing ruined chapel into Use Class E 'Business, 
Commercial and Service' on the ground floor and two dwellings on the ground and 
first floor. Demolition includes: Unsafe elements of structure including the remains 
of the existing roof, rear chimney and the top of the walls to the rear Sunday school 
building. Rear wall of the chapel building, to enable construction access. Clearing of 
the interior of the buildings of scrub and detritus from the fire down to good ground 

HPK/2020/0459 - Co-Op Fields Rear of Mount Pleasant, Spring Bank, New Mills, 
Derbyshire, SK22 4AS - Construction of temporary compacted gravel access road 
via Aldersgate across land owned by New Mills Town Council know as Co-op Fields 
rear of Mount Pleasant Chapel, Spring Bank. Construction of compacted gravel 
level area for site office, welfare facilities and storage of equipment for duration of 
the build. Rem (Pages 11 - 38)

7. HPK/2021/0006 Land across the road from 3 Silk Hill. Buxworth, Derbyshire- 
Retrospective permission for a shed with a non permanent base measuring 12 sqr 
meters to replace existing greenhouse (Pages 39 - 50)

8. HPK/2021/0005 Serpentine Community Gardens, Serpentine Walk, off Burlington 
Walk, Buxton - erection of a Polytunnel (Pages 51 - 58)

Public Document Pack



9. HPK/2020/0531 Land at Cemetery Road, Glossop - Variation of Condition 2 relating 
to HPK/2020/0316 (Pages 59 - 72)

10. HPK/2020/0553 Pavilion Gardens, Buxton - Listed Building Consent - Repairs to the 
core buildings within the Pavilion Gardens complex (Pages 73 - 84)

11. HPK/2020/0388 - Lowfoot Farm, Redgap Lane, Buxton - Extension of stable block 
and part change of use to form cattery (Pages 85 - 96)

MARK TRILLO
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND MONITORING OFFICER

Membership of Development Control Committee
Councillor R McKeown (Chair) Councillor D Lomax (Vice-Chair)
Councillor A Barrow Councillor L Dowson
Councillor C Farrell Councillor I Huddlestone
Councillor G Oakley Councillor J Perkins
Councillor P Roberts Councillor E Thrane
Councillor J Todd Councillor S Young



High Peak Borough Council

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE

Meeting: Monday, 22 February 2021 at 1.30 pm in Virtual Meeting

Present: Councillor R McKeown (Chair) 

Councillors A Barrow, L Dowson, C Farrell, I Huddlestone, D Lomax, 
G Oakley, J Perkins, P Roberts, E Thrane, J Todd and S Young

20/147 CHAIR'S ANNOUNCEMENT

The Chair confirmed that the meeting was being broadcast live to the 
internet via the Council’s website and was capable of repeated viewing. The 
images and sound recording may be used for training purposes within the 
Council. All were asked to keep to the speaking guidelines which were 
outlined.  Any views expressed by any speaker in the meeting are the 
speaker’s own and do not necessarily reflect the views of High Peak 
Borough Council.

A minute silence was observed in respect of former Councillor David Mellor 
who had recently passed away.  Councillor Mellor had been a member of 
High Peak Borough Council from 1983 until 2015 and Chair of DC 
Committee from 2003 to 2015.

20/148 TO RECEIVE DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST ON ANY MATTERS BEFORE 
THE COMMITTEE
(Agenda Item 2)

Councillor Perkins declared an ‘other’ interest in agenda item 12, 
“HPK/2020/0508 27 Thomas Street, Glossop” (reason: personal friend of the 
applicant) and withdrew from the meeting during the consideration and 
voting on the application

The Chair, Councillor McKeown, declared an ‘other’ interest on behalf of all 
members of the committee in agenda item 12, “HPK/2020/0508 27 Thomas 
Street, Glossop” (reason: applicants are HPBC Councillors)

Councillor Roberts declared a disclosable pecuniary interest in agenda item 
10, HPK/2020/0437 Sweet Water Cottages, Longridge Lane, Peak Dale 
(reason: neighbour and is known to the applicant) and withdrew from the 
meeting during the consideration and voting on the application

20/149 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING
(Agenda Item 3)

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the meeting held on 18 January 2021 be approved as a 
correct record. Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Development Control Committee
Monday, 22 February 2021

20/150 UPDATE SHEET
(Agenda Item 4)

RESOLVED:

That the update sheet be noted.

20/151 PLANNING APPLICATIONS
(Agenda Item 5)

RESOLVED:

That the report be noted.

20/152 TREE PRESERVATION ORDER AT ETON HOUSE AND CARLISLE 
HOUSE, BROAD WALK, BUXTON (295)
(Agenda Item 6)

The Committee considered the objections raised to a temporary Tree 
Preservation Order at Eton House and Carlisle House, Broad Walk, Buxton.

During consideration of the report, the Council’s Arboricultural Officer 
confirmed that the making of a TPO would not prevent the management and 
pruning of the trees, although an application would need to be made.

RESOLVED:

That, notwithstanding the objections raised, the Tree Preservation Order be 
confirmed for the reasons given at paragraph 5 (i) a-b of the report, and the 
objectors and original applicant be advised on the next course of action.

20/153 HPK/2020/0064 LAND OFF TRENCHARD DRIVE, BUXTON - 
APPLICATION TO VARY PLANNING CONDITION 2 ATTACHED TO FULL 
APPLICATION REF: HPK/2018/0315
(Agenda Item 7)

Application to vary planning condition 2 attached to Full Application Ref: 
HPK/2018/0315

Applicant: Persimmon Homes

The Committee were addressed by Mrs Drennan and Marie Hutchinson in 
objection to parts of the application, Councillors Grooby and Savage (ward 
councillors) and Adele Jacques (applicant)

The Committee viewed plans, photographs and videos of the site.

At the conclusion of the item, the Chair thanked officers and the applicant 
for their time spent in reaching an acceptable agreement.

RESOLVED:
Page 4



Development Control Committee
Monday, 22 February 2021

1. That approval be granted subject to:
(i) The LLFA confirming that they have no objection to the revised 

landscaping / drainage plans;
(ii) The same conditions as previously, subject to the changes 

/amendments as set out in the report;
(iii) The removal of permitted development rights for dormer 

extensions at plots 119 and 118;
(iv) The acceptance of the developer’s offer to install additional 

land drains in the vicinity of no 49 Burlow Road to aid drainage 
in that area

2. That in the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 
Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions 
/informatives / planning obligations or reasons for approval / refusal) 
prior to the decision being issued, the Head of Development Services 
be delegated authority to do so in consultation with the Chair of the 
Committee, provided that the changes do not exceed the substantive 
nature of the committee’s decision. 

20/154 HPK/2020/0047 LAND ADJ TO SHEFFIELD ROAD, CHAPEL EN LE FRITH 
- ERECTION OF TWO INDUSTRIAL UNITS WITH ASSOCIATED OFF 
STREET PARKING AND LANDSCAPING
(Agenda Item 8)

Erection of two industrial units with associated off-street parking and 
landscaping

Applicant: Natural Stone Surfaces Ltd.

The Committee viewed plans and photographs of the site.

During the debate, it was confirmed that a footpath diversion order would be 
required to divert a public footpath within the site currently passing over one 
of the proposed parking spaces.

RESOLVED:

1. That planning permission be granted subject to:
(i) The conditions as set out within the report;
(ii) An additional condition to require a scheme of wall repair 

along the tramway to be submitted and approved by officers

2. That in the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 
committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions / 
informatives / planning obligations or reasons for approval/refusal) 
prior to the decision being issued, the Operations Manager – 
Development Services be delegated authority to do so in consultation 
with the Chair of the Committee. Provided that het changes do not 
exceed the substantive nature of the Committee’s decision.

20/155 HPK/2020/0062 BUXWORTH FOOTBALL CLUB - RETROSPECTIVE 
ADVERTISEMENT CONSENT FOR THE RETENTION OF 17 X PITCH Page 5



Development Control Committee
Monday, 22 February 2021

PERIMETER HOARDING SIGNS
(Agenda Item 9)

Retrospective advertisement consent for the retention of 17 x pitch 
perimeter hoarding signs

Applicant: Mr Mark Burgess

The Committee viewed plans and photographs of the site.

During the debate, members commented that the club should be 
encouraged to work with the council to explore alternative options at the 
site.

RESOLVED:

1. That planning permission be refused as set out within the report;

2. That in the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 
committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions / 
informatives / planning obligations or reasons for approval / refusal) 
prior to the decision being issued, the Operations Manager – 
Development Services be delegated authority to do so in consultation 
with the Chair of the Committee, provided that the changes do not 
exceed the substantive nature of the committee’s decision.

(Having declared an interest, Councillor Roberts withdrew from the 
meeting for the consideration and voting on the following application)

20/156 HPK/2020/0437 SWEET WATER COTTAGES, LONGRIDGE LANE, PEAK 
DALE - ERECTION OF GENERAL PURPOSE AGRICULTURAL BUILDING
(Agenda Item 10)

Erection of general-purpose agricultural building

Applicant: Mr Stephen Wardle

The Committee viewed plans and photographs of the site.

RESOLVED:

1. That planning permission be granted as set out in the report, subject 
to:
(i) The amendment of condition 7 to refer to the removal of the 

storage containers and the trailer

2. That in the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 
Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions / 
informatives / planning obligations or reasons for approval / refusal) 
prior to the decision being issued, the Operations Manager – 
Development Services be delegated authority to do so in consultation 
with the Chair of the Committee, provided that the changes do not 
exceed the substantive nature of the Committee’s decision.Page 6



Development Control Committee
Monday, 22 February 2021

(Councillor Roberts returned to the meeting)

20/157 HPK/2018/0092 1 GREGGS AVENUE, CHAPEL EN LE FRITH - SINGLE 
STOREY SIDE EXTENSION TO EXISTING SEMI-DETACHED PROPERTY 
- RETROSPECTIVE
(Agenda Item 11)

Single storey side extension to existing semi-detached property – 
retrospective

Applicant: Mr C Tomlinson

The Committee viewed plans and photographs of the site

RESOLVED:

1. That planning permission be approved as set out within the report, 
subject to:
(i) The provision of a boundary wall to separate the driveway 

from the footpath;
(ii) The surfacing of the two car parking spaces to be in a 

permeable surface or which drain to a permeable area;
(iii) The relocation of the street sign and dropped kerb; and 
(iv) The fence to be reinstated on the original line

2. That in the event of any changes being needed to the wording of 
committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions / 
informatives / planning obligations or reasons for approval / refusal) 
prior to the decision being issued, the Head of Development Services 
be delegated authority to do so in consultation with the Chair of the 
Committee, provided that the changes do not exceed the substantive 
nature of the committee’s decision. 

(Having declared an interest, Councillor Perkins withdrew from the 
meeting during the consideration and voting on the following 
application and did not return)

20/158 HPK/2020/0508 27 THOMAS STREET, GLOSSOP - PROPOSED GROUND 
FLOOR REAR EXTENSION TO REPLACE EXISTING CONSERVATORY 
AND A FIRST FLOOR SIDE EXTENSION ABOVE EXISTING GARAGE ( 
TO BE REBUILT)
(Agenda Item 12)

Proposed ground floor rear extension to replace existing conservatory and a 
first floor side extension above existing garage (to be rebuilt)

Applicant: Mr and Mrs G Wharmby

The Committee viewed plans and photographs of the site

RESOLVED:
Page 7



Development Control Committee
Monday, 22 February 2021

1. That planning permission be approved as set out within the report;

2. That in the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 
Committee’s decision (such as to delete vary or add conditions / 
informatives / planning obligations or reasons for approval / refusal) 
prior to the decision being issued, the Head of Development Services 
be delegated authority to do so in consultation with the Chair of the 
Committee, provided that the changes do not exceed the substantive 
nature of the committee’s decision.

The meeting concluded at 3.25 pm

CHAIRMAN

Page 8



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL

Report to Development Control Committee

22 March 2021

Appendices Attached - None

1.        Reason for the Report: To outline the Committee’s determination of 
planning applications

2. Recommendation

2.1 That the report be noted.

3. Executive Summary

3.1 Unless the Committee decide to waive their delegated power in respect of any 
application, the Committee’s determination of any application will operate as a 
final decision, unless:-

a. it is a major departure from Council Policy;

b. There are resource implications for the Borough Council which need to 
be considered by the Executive

3.2 The environmental, legal, financial and equal opportunities raised by each 
application are dealt with within each report.  There are no known Community 
Safety issues unless specified in the report.

Web Links and
Background Papers

Location Contact details

Background papers for all planning 
applications 

Town Hall, Buxton

TITLE: PLANNING APPLICATIONS FOR DECISION BY 
COMMITTEE

EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: Councillor Anthony McKeown

CONTACT OFFICER: Ben Haywood – Head of Development Services

WARDS INVOLVED: All

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE

Date: 22nd March 2021

Application No: HPK/2020/0515
Location Mount Pleasant Chapel, Spring Bank, New Mills, 

Derbyshire, SK22 4AS
Proposal Redevelopment of the existing ruined chapel into Use 

Class E ‘Business, Commercial and Service’ on the 
ground floor and two dwellings on the ground and first 
floor. Demolition includes: Unsafe elements of structure 
including the remains of the existing roof, rear chimney 
and the top of the walls to the rear Sunday school 
building. Rear wall of the chapel building, to enable 
construction access. Clearing of the interior of the 
buildings of scrub and detritus from the fire down to good 
ground.

Applicant Mrs Carolyn Bannister
Agent Mr Jeremy Poulter
Parish/Ward New Mills Date registered: 07/12/2020
If you have a question about this report please contact: Rachael Simpkin  
rachael.simpkin@highpeak.gov.uk 01538 395400 extension 4122

Application No: HPK/2020/0459
Location Co-Op Fields Rear of Mount Pleasant, Spring Bank, New 

Mills, Derbyshire, SK22 4AS
Proposal Construction of temporary compacted gravel access road 

via Aldersgate across land owned by New Mills Town 
Council know as Co-op Fields rear of Mount Pleasant 
Chapel, Spring Bank. Construction of compacted gravel 
level area for site office, welfare facilities and storage of 
equipment for duration of the build. Removal of 4m 
section of beech hedging adjacent to road. Erect security 
gates across to prevent unauthorised vehicle access. 
Erect security fencing and gates to secure site compound.

Applicant Mrs Carolyn Bannister
Agent n/a
Parish/Ward New Mills Date registered: 02/11/2020
If you have a question about this report please contact: Rachael Simpkin  
rachael.simpkin@highpeak.gov.uk 01538 395400 extension 4122

REFERRAL

The applicant has commenced development concerning stabilisation works in 
relation to the former chapel structure.  

As well, Councillor Ray Atkins has requested that the item be referred to the 
Committee for reasons as follows:

Page 11

Agenda Item 6

mailto:rachael.simpkin@highpeak.gov.uk
mailto:rachael.simpkin@highpeak.gov.uk


1. The access for construction vehicles would be via the Co-p Field at the 
rear of the site and the field is owned by the Town Council who would 
therefore have a pecuniary interest, and,

2. The Chapel is next door to the Town Hall and the Town Council feels 
that it has an additional key interest in any development.

.
1. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

APPROVE subject to conditions:

HPK/2020/0515 – Redevelopment of ruinous Chapel and Sunday School

HPK/2020/0459 – Temporary Access and Compound Works

2. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS

2.1 The application site comprises the former Mount Pleasant Methodist 
Chapel, and the former Sunday School to the rear. Both are in a state of ruin 
and have lost their roofs.

2.2 The chapel was constructed in 1892, replacing an earlier Methodist 
chapel, and is a non-designated heritage asset. The site is currently derelict 
following a fire in 1993. However the external walls remain.  There is a 
graveyard to the front, which is overgrown with vegetation, including mature 
trees. The frontage is fenced off from access on Spring Bank, where it is 
bounded by a stone wall and access through a gateway is blocked.

2.3 To the south are the New Mills Town Council and library buildings, with 
the Town Hall car park (HPBC) to their front.  To the north are residential 
dwellings along Spring Bank. There is undeveloped land to the rear of the site 
planted with trees and this backs onto Aldersgate, a residential street running 
behind the Council buildings and further parking area.

2.4 The site lies within an elevated position in the New Mills development 
boundary off Spring Bank, edge of town centre and is also within the New 
Mills Conservation Area. It is covered by an Article 4 Direction. The site is also 
a non-designated heritage asset.

3. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL

HPK/2020/0515:

3.1 It is proposed to incorporate the remnants of the chapel structure into a 
two-storey building as follows:

 A commercial space on the ground floor providing flexible facilities 
including gallery space and rentable desks / workspace for creative 
businesses,

 A small self-contained studio to let for an artist or holidays also on the 
ground floor, and,

Page 12



 A dwelling on the first floor.

3.2 The ground floor is to contain a flexible space with a studio workspace, 
kitchen and bathroom facilities and a residential space accessed separately to 
the north from the public area.  The first floor is to contain a three-bed 
residential apartment.  Access to the first floor is via stairs or a lift from the 
same lobby area that provides an entrance to the public space.

3.3 A new roof structure is proposed for the chapel to reflect the shape of the 
original lost roof and windows would also follow the original built form.  This 
will include a terned steel roof, new windows within the existing openings and 
a render finish to the new walls finished in grey.

3.4 The main change to the existing external walls would be the demolition of 
the rear most opening on the southern elevation down to ground level.  This 
would provide an entrance lobby to the first floor dwelling and an alternative 
means of escape to the ground floor commercial unit.  The existing chimney is 
also proposed for demolition on the grounds that it is structurally unstable and 
would serve no functional purpose for the scheme.  It is confirmed that all 
areas of the commercial unit are on the same level and disabled access 
toilets would be provided.  A lift would provide access up to the higher 
courtyard garden level and the first floor single dwelling.

3.5 The rear Sunday school element would remain as a walled garden to 
service the first floor private dwelling only.  It is proposed as an external, 
landscaped space that aims to retain the characteristics of the existing ruin 
from the outside through the existing openings.  A protective coping is 
proposed to finish the walling.

3.6 It is the applicant’s intention for the graveyard to be open to the public as it 
was originally when it was a church. The existing paths and boundary walls 
would be repaired, with new paths proposed and the grounds planted with 
meadow and woodland flowers and existing trees would be retained.

3.7 Works to stabilise the site have been found to be necessary and after 
discussions with the Council and the County Archaeologist, permission has 
been given to clear debris and stabilise walls subject to qualified 
archaeological supervision.

3.8 Revisions have been submitted as follows:

 Binstore: The bins are sited in the same location, but accessed through 
the existing front entrance gate.  To achieve this all bins will have to be 
wheelie bin size rather than the larger Eurobin. It would involve digging 
out the existing steps and constructing a new ambulant disabled stair 
up to the existing path (drawing 115 rev B).  No alternative access from 
New Mills Town Council land can currently be provided.

 Windows and Doors: The balustrade to the first floor windows has been 
replaced with glass a detailed study of this window provided (drawing 
235 rev I) together with the suggested frame for the other windows.

Page 13



 Roof Materials: A proposed palette of materials (drawing 236 rev A ) 
also shows the details of the proposed roof finish. 

 Rooflights: Proposed rooflights shown on materials pallete drawing 
(drawing 236 rev A).

 Chimney: The chimney to be demolished is the one between the main 
chapel and the Sunday school building as indicated (ringed red on the 
mark up of existing elevations).

 View from Rear: A perspective view from the rear as seen from the 
Town Hall car park (drawing 231 rev A) shows the visual impact of the 
rendered elevation of the rear of the Chapel building and the extent to 
which the solar panels will be seen. A buff render colour rather than the 
previously proposed grey is now proposed.

 Schedule of renovation works: Could be covered by a condition.

HPK/2020/0459:

3.9 As part of the works, permission is sought for a temporary access road to 
provide rear access to the site, with works to facilitate this including the 
removal of a section of hedging and erection of security gates. Construction of 
a level area for construction works and storage is also proposed.

3.10 The applicant, within the Design and Access Statement, outlines that 
bringing back this ruined chapel into meaningful use will have many benefits 
including.

 The safeguarding of this historic structure which, if it is left to the 
elements, will eventually degrade beyond repair.

 Improving the setting of the Chapel the immediate surroundings, 
enhancing the quality of New Mills Conservation Area.

 Opening up the graveyard and buildings to the public allowing them to 
experience them close too, bringing a better understanding of the 
history of the church and the some of the previous inhabitants of the 
town.

 Providing facilities that will allow people to work closer to home, in a 
creative environment with the potential for synergies between different 
occupants bringing social and economic benefits.

 Building users who are much more likely to spend their money in and 
around the town, supporting local businesses and strengthening the 
community.

 Bringing continuous occupation to the buildings, through mixed 
residential use, enhancing the vibrancy and security of the built 
environment.

 Achieving high standards of Environmental sustainability through the 
targeting of the Enerphit standard and the use of on site renewables.

 Improving the biodiversity and ecological benefits of the site, through 
the planting of native trees, plants as well built in features that will 
create habitat for wildlife.

Page 14



3.10 The application and details attached to it, including the plans, supporting 
documents, representations and consultee responses can be found on the 
Council’s website at:

HPK/2020/0515:

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKI
D=244171

HPK/2020/0459:

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKI
D=243458

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

HPK/0002/0890 Residential Development.  Refused 16/04/84

HPK/0003/5490 Demolition Of Church.  Withdrawn 28/11/96

HPK/0003/7113 Demolition Of Church.  Refused 20/05/98 and APPEAL 
DISMISSED

HPK/0003/9685 Demolition Of Buildings To Rear Of Chapel.  Refused 
22/03/01 and APPEAL ALLOWED

5. CONSULTATIONS

Expiry:

HPK/2020/0515:

Site notice 26/02/2021
Press notice 07/01/2021
Neighbours 30/12/2020

Public comments:

Neither (2)

 Disabled access relies on Town Council goodwill
 Disabled access means moving headstones – not acceptable solution
 Gallery use will require car parking
 Outdated report – mentions long-closed businesses
 No mention of access for large construction vehicles
 This is not a community project, it is a business 

Page 15

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=244171
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=244171
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=243458
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=243458


 The chapel is an eyesore currently: development will be beneficial
 Much work has already been undertaken – was this authorised?
 Town Council access issues should be solved before planning 

determined
 Assurance on treatment of graves needed regarding construction 

works
 Footpath must be safeguarded during construction
 The building is important in the early development of the Methodist 

Church and therefore is of national historical importance
 The siting of a gallery to display the works of local artists could develop 

into making New Mills a regional arts and crafts centre and thus attract 
visitors

 The development of the site to include dwellings will result in additional 
income for the town

Objection (2)

 Construction vehicles access concerns 
 Heavy machines will damage the graveyard and head stones 
 Does the store proposed at the front disrupt any burial ground? 
 No parking – will negatively impact surrounding streets
 Overlooking concerns – roof height must not be raised and windows 

must be rooflights
 Current works onsite involve burning which impacts neighbour amenity
 The development must manage waste without burning
 Wildlife needs protecting – bats and owls onsite
 Loss of trees
 Access issues – no road access at the back, steep steps at the front

Support (14)

 The proposal will support efforts to attract visitors to New Mills
 Builds on local heritage
 Applicants clearly understand the heritage of the site
 Applicants have gone to significant lengths to consider and include all 

viewpoints
 Improves the town centre location and Town Hall next door
 Supports local creative artists
 Good to support local projects rather than external developers
 Removal of a derelict building
 Town Council should be supporting the scheme
 Will restore public access to site
 All issues surrounding the scheme are minor and can be resolved
 Sympathetic design
 Will provide employment in construction and use
 Overwhelming support on social media
 New Mills has a history of cultural regeneration and this should be 

continued
 The mixed-use proposals are very appropriate in current economic 

circumstances

Page 16



 This is a much better proposal than the previous one for apartments
 Other community spaces are often booked up and there is therefore 

demand for more
 Treatment of the graves will be sensitive 
 The mixed use is in accordance with the first church on the site

HPK/2020/0459:

Site notice 15/12/2020
Press notice 07/01/2021
Neighbours 30/12/2020

Public comments: 

Neither (1)
 Works on the road must be monitored
 This should be considered in conjunction with the main application

Consultees

HPK/2020/0515:

Consultee Comment Officer response 

DCC Archaeologist No objections subject to a 
condition

Refer to Heritage Section

23.02.21: I met on site last week with the applicant, her architect and 
archaeological adviser,. We reviewed the further works that are necessary to clear, 
stabilise and develop the chapel remains. On the basis of these discussions Robin 
has produced an archaeological written scheme of investigation for both 
archaeological monitoring of these works and for additional building recording. I 
have approved these proposals, and would happy for the required clearance and 
stabilisation works to resume with the agreed level of archaeological input. 

Some of the works won’t occur until planning permission has been granted and in 
order to cover this I would recommend that the following condition be attached to 
any grant of planning permission for the scheme: 

"a) No development shall take place other than in accordance with the 
approved archaeological Written Scheme of Investigation."

"b) The development shall not be occupied until the site investigation and 
post investigation assessment has been completed in accordance with the 
programme set out in the approved archaeological Written Scheme of 
Investigation and the provision to be made for analysis, publication and 
dissemination of results and archive deposition has been secured."

01.02.21: The works proposed under this revision of the original planning 
application should be informed by the Heritage Statement which was produced in 
January 2021. The reason for the production of documents of this nature is to 

Page 17



assess and identify the key features of heritage significance (heritage assets) of a 
particular site or building, in order that they can be retained, enhanced or recorded 
as part of any re-development scheme. 

I recently sent you an email about the need for archaeological supervision of 
clearance works in and around the chapel, and in the light of the current proposals I 
would strongly recommend that the applicant be advised to cease any work on the 
site until we have had chance to review what ground preparation/demolition has 
been done to date. The current application has not been determined, and key 
features of the building may be lost of if contractors continue on site before an 
appropriate and sensitive scheme for the conversion is agreed. Taking this in to 
account I would ask that a meeting be arranged so that the above issues can be 
reviewed on site with the developer, her agent and her archaeological consultants. 

02.02.12: About the necessary works required to stabilise the buildings at this site I 
understand that there will be a need to take down some existing features and fabric 
of the buildings. I recommend that this should be undertaken under archaeological 
supervision, and that any such areas should be subject to detailed recording in 
advance of controlled demolition. 

Any excavation/spoil clearing, of any nature or depth, either within or around the 
buildings, should only be undertaken under archaeological supervision. 

The archaeological input to this work should be scoped in a written scheme of 
investigation which is to be produced by a Chartered Institute of Archaeologists 
Registered organisation, and approved by ourselves. 

Its appreciated that the necessary works are to be undertaken as a matter of 
urgency and will make every effort to respond quickly when consulted on the details 
of the required WSI. 

20.01.21: I have had a preliminary look through this report and am happy to 
approve it. I’d hope to make more detailed comments and recommendations on the 
application next week. 

In the meantime it appears from the photographs in the report that some works are 
already underway on the site. The desk based assessment report states that: 

9.2.7 The development involves installing foundations within the Chapel footprint 
and ground works for the foundations will take place during the development. Even 
though photographs of the 1838 and 1892 chapels show the graves untouched, it is 
uncertain if the later Chapel was constructed over any graves, and therefore there 
may be present beneath the current chapel footprint. Furthermore, the 1892 Chapel 
was constructed over the foundation of the 1838 Chapel, and it is considered 
therefore that the foundations of the 1838 Chapel could be uncovered during 
ground works for the foundations.

Its appreciated that vegetation clearance has been necessary to allow the historic 
buildings appraisal that we asked for to be undertaken, however it is crucial that no 
ground disturbance takes place on the site other than under archaeological 
supervision. This is so that the above aspects of the site can be archaeologically 
recorded as they are exposed; this working being undertaken as part of a condition 

Page 18



of planning permission. Please could you advise the applicant of this requirement? 

15.12.21: We provided pre application advice on the principle of conversion of this 
building in June this year.

The building in question, New Mills United Methodist Free Chapel, is included in the 
Derbyshire Historic Environment Record (DHER number: MDR12295), having been 
added in 2010. It is also located within, and is an element of, the New Mills 
Conservation Area. We would consider the chapel to be a non-designated heritage 
asset therefore.

The pre – app documentation included a comprehensive Heritage Statement, which 
provided much detail of the historical development of the site, the chapel and its 
environs. The current application however does not provide a similarly detailed and 
informed assessment of the heritage significance of the structure based on its 
history, surviving fabric and associated archaeological remains.
We would therefore recommend that the applicants commission an archaeological 
desk-based assessment of the site. In addition to the details normally provided in a 
DBA, the document should include the following:

a rapid historic building appraisal of the chapel and associated remains;
a heritage impact assessment of the current proposals for development of the 
chapel, including the potential impact of the development on the significance of 
non-designated heritage assets on the site (including below ground archaeological 
remains).

These requirements are in line with NPPF para 189 which requires that applicants 
establish the significance of heritage assets, and the level of proposed impact to 
that significance through their development proposals.

The necessary assessment and reporting should be undertaken by a Chartered 
Institute for Archaeologists (CIfA) registered consultancy/contractor. We can 
provide information on a range of local archaeological consultancies, if required, 
and additional contacts can be found on the CIfA website.

Please contact us if you have any questions about any of the above advice.

DCC Highways 
Authority

No objections Refer to Technical 
Section

16.12.21: The Highway Authority generally seeks to ensure that any new 
development is served with an adequate level of off-street parking in order to 
reduce the likelihood of overspill onto the existing public highway. However, given 
the town centre location of this site and availability of public car parks, it's 
considered that any objections on highway Grounds would be likely to prove 
unsustainable.

HPBC Conservation 
Officer

No objections subject to 
conditions

Refer to Heritage Section

15.02.21: The siting of the bin store is still a weakness of the scheme but if there is 
no opportunity to site this at the rear then the revised detail is probably acceptable 

Page 19



when looking at the bigger picture of securing the shell of the building. I would still 
suggest a pre-commencement condition to explore this further to ensure that it is 
visually tucked away. The other indicative details are acceptable subject to more 
detailed conditions.

I note that we still need to bottom out the archaeology conditions which I hope are 
being resolved with the County Archaeologist and the need to undertake urgent 
stabilisation works.

02.02.21: The property is prominently sited in the New Mills Conservation Area, 
situated alongside the Town Hall and other buildings of high heritage value. The 
chapel suffered a fire in 1993 and since then has become a roofless ruin, 
disappearing behind an overgrown graveyard. The building is identified in the 
character appraisal as having a negative impact on the character and appearance 
of the conservation area. Despite this it remains a building of great townscape 
value and is worthy of repair and re-use.

The application proposes the renovation and conversion of the chapel to create 
commercial space and flat on the ground floor with a dwelling on the first floor. It is 
proposed to re-roof the main section of the chapel using a contemporary metal roof, 
matching the historic profile, but leaving the former Sunday School room at the rear 
as a roofless enclosure to form a garden. Footprint of the building will be retained. 
The land around the building will remain as a graveyard, clearing the ground 
around the standing stones.

The design philosophy is to retain the character of the building but to distinguish 
new elements from the old through use of complimentary materials and colours 
making new elements recessive. The scheme proposes the following changes:

 The roof of chapel will follow original profile but use a terned steel roof 
covering

 Rooflights are proposed as well as a cut-out in roof to form an inner garden 
in chapel

 New windows/doors – grey aluminium (no design detail)
 All new walls to be mid-grey render. The rear gable of the chapel will be 

most visible
 The only façade alterations will be the alteration of a window to a door to 

form an access to the first floor dwelling
 A chimney is to be demolished as it is unstable
 The Sunday School walling to be stabilised with a weather capping and to 

serve as a private garden to the dwelling
 The graveyard is to be open to the public and existing paths and boundaries 

repaired. Gravestones to remain and those severely leaning will be laid flat

Access: The application suggests that access will be explored from the Town Hall 
car park but this does not currently form part of the application.

Refuse: It is proposed to form an opening in the stone boundary wall alongside the 
pedestrian access to serve as a bin store. The bank will be dug out to site three 
large, shared bins and enclose this with a double timber-faced gate.

Comments on Proposals
Page 20



Overall I feel that this is an exciting proposal for the re-use of this sadly neglected 
building and offers a modern approach dealing with the constraints of the remaining 
historic façade. My main areas of concern are:

 The visual impact of the bin store on the frontage – This is a really fine 
ashlar wall with pyramidal capping and decorative gateway. The wall 
continues in a similar form around the Town Hall and also encloses a 19th 
century drinking fountain and the only detracting feature is an electricity sub-
station. The loss of a further section of wall, digging out the bankside and 
erecting timber gates would be an unsightly detail. Is it possible for the bins 
to be sited at the rear of the plot and collected across the Town Council’s 
land?

 Treatment of the windows and doors – this will be a crucial part of the 
scheme and I feel that we need more information at this stage so that we 
can asses impact (the exact details can be dealt with by condition). I am 
particularly interested in the guard rails on the front façade and how these 
will appear

 Change to roof materials – the metal roof covering will be noticeable but it 
will have a visual relationship with the lead roof on the Town Hall tower and 
blend with the surrounding colour of roofs. As the profile of the roof will 
remain the same and it will tuck down behind the parapets then subject to 
agreement on details and rooflights I have no objection to this modern 
intervention. 

 Details of rooflights required.
 Details of the chimney to be demolished to be submitted so that we can 

assess its significance. It looks to sit alongside an existing Town Hall 
chimney.

 Where will the render/solar panels be visible from? It is difficult to assess the 
visual impact of the proposal from the rear so more information should be 
provided to assess impact.

 Securing a schedule of renovation works and agreeing the extent of taking 
down – the structural engineer’s report demonstrates that the building can 
be repaired without extensive taking down as long as this is undertaken 
relatively soon and urgent stabilisation works are attended to. This can be 
secured by condition.

 Archaeology – The development needs to assess both the remains of the 
current building and remains of an earlier chapel which stood on this site. 
The Heritage Statement suggests that a Scheme of Historic Building 
Recording (Level 1) ahead of development and a programme of monitoring 
and recording is undertaken for below ground works.

There will be numerous heritage conditions to attach but if we can just address the 
above matters we can come back to these later. I note that urgent structural works 
are also likely to be underway before determination (and associated archaeological 
recording) which we are now being kept informed of. 

HPBC Environmental 
Health

No objections subject to 
conditions

Refer to Technical 
Section

09.02.21: Further to my previous comments dated 17th December 2020; the 
asbestos demolition survey submitted in support of the application may be 

Page 21



accepted: Knight SS Ltd, Asbestos Demolition Survey (ref: ABS0563), dated 11th 
January 2021.  Proposed condition 8 - CLD11 - Asbestos: request for info, is no 
longer requested.

17/12/20: The Environmental Health Department has no objection to the proposed 
development subject to the conditions set out below being applied to any 
permission granted.

COMMENT: CL SENSITIVE USE
The submitted Envirosearch report (ref: 20714628_ESR, dated 22nd July 2020) 
indicates that there is a low risk of land contamination however the proposed end 
use of the development is particularly sensitive to the presence of land 
contamination and for this reason the following condition 01 is recommended.

COMMENT: NOISE
Condition 2 is recommended to ensure adequate noise protection between 
commercial and residential elements of the development.

COMMENT: CONSTRUCTION
The construction/demolition stage of the development could lead to an increase of 
noise and dust etc. experienced at sensitive premises and subsequent loss of 
amenity, for this reason conditions 3 to 9 are suggested.

1. CL05 CONTAMINATED LAND – IF FOUND DURING DEVELOPMENT
If during development any contamination or evidence of likely contamination is 
identified that has not previously been identified or considered, then the applicant 
shall submit a written scheme to identify and control that contamination. This shall 
include a phased risk assessment carried out in accordance with the procedural 
guidance of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 Part IIA, and appropriate 
remediation proposals, and shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority 
without delay. The approved remediation scheme shall be implemented to the 
satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority.

2. NSD10 - ACOUSTIC INSULATION
No part of the development hereby permitted shall be brought into use until full 
details of a sound insulation scheme has been submitted to and approved, in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall adequately demonstrate 
a system of sound insulation between commercial and residential uses, that is 
designed to achieve an airborne sound insulation value of no less than:

 Airborne Sound Insulation 53 DnT,w+Ctr dB
 Impact Sound Insulation 64 L'nT,w dB

The approved scheme shall then be implemented prior to the permission being 
brought into use, to the written satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority, and 
maintained in use for the life of the development.

3. CDD01 - CONSTRUCTION AND DEMOLITION – DUST
There shall be no visible dust emissions beyond the site boundary associated with 
construction/demolition works undertaken at the site. In controlling dust on site, the 
contractor shall have due regard to the Building Research Establishment Document 
‘Control of Dust from Construction and Demolition Activities’ (BR456) and the 
Institute of Air Quality Managements ‘Assessment of dust from demolition and 
Construction’ (2014).

Page 22



4. CDD02 - CONSTRUCTION & DEMOLITION: WASTE DISPOSAL
Any waste material associated with the demolition or construction shall not be burnt 
on site but shall be kept securely for removal to prevent escape into the 
environment. There shall be no fires lit on the site for purpose of disposing of 
demolition or construction materials. Any open fires that arise shall be extinguished 
without delay.

5. NSD12 - BEST PRACTICAL MEANS
The best practicable means, as defined in Section 72 of the Control of Pollution Act 
1974 to reduce noise and vibration from the site to a minimum, shall be employed 
at all times during construction.

6. NSD02B - NOISE CONSTRUCTION: PILING 2
If piling is necessary, a written method statement shall be submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority. No piling shall take place until the method statement has been 
approved.  No piling shall take place outside the hours 09:00 hours to 16:00 hours 
Mondays to Fridays

7. NS02A - CONSTRUCTION & DEMOLITION WORKS: TIME OF
OPERATIONS
Unless prior permission has been obtained in writing from the Local Planning 
Authority, all noise‐generating activities shall be restricted to the following times of 
operations.

 07:30 - 18:00 hours (Monday to Friday);
 08:30 - 14:00 hours (Saturday)
 No working is permitted on Sundays or Bank Holidays.

In this condition, a noise‐generating activity is defined as any activity (for instance, 
but not restricted to, building construction/demolition operations, refurbishing and 
landscaping) which generates noise that is audible at the site boundary.

8. CLD11 - ASBESTOS: REQUEST FOR INFO
Prior to commencement of development the developer must either submit evidence 
that the building was built post 2000 or submit a intrusive pre‐demolition asbestos 
survey in accordance with HSG264 and a mitigation plan to reduce risks to 
potential occupiers and the wider public.  The report shall be approved in writing by 
the LPA.  NB it should be noted a management survey report is unlikely to be 
acceptable as this does not meet the requirements of the guidance.  The approved 
mitigation scheme must be carried out in accordance with its terms prior to the 
commencement of development.

9. CDD14 - ON SITE RADIO
During construction/demolition phases amplified music and/or radios shall not be 
audible beyond the site boundary.

New Mills Town Council Request call-in Noted.

NMTC declared a prejudicial interest.  NMTC ask for this application to be called in 
by Cllr Atkins as a MATTER OF IMPORTANT LOCAL INTEREST 

United Utilities Response Awaited Refer to Update Sheet

Page 23



-

Derbyshire Wildlife 
Trust

No objections subject to 
conditions

Refer to Nature 
Conservation Section

25.01.21: We have reviewed the Bat Survey report (Dunelm Ecology, October 
2020). The report details the results of a Preliminary Bat Roost Assessment and 
concludes that given the ‘moderate’ potential of the building to support roosting 
bats, two nocturnal surveys will be required to determine presence/absence. These 
should be undertaken between May and August, prior to the determination of the 
application. We would be happy to review the results of these surveys and any 
necessary mitigation details. As recommended in Section 4.1.4 the opportunity 
should be taken to enhance the biodiversity of the site a part of proposals. A 
Biodiversity Enhancement Plan could be submitted with the full bat surveys results 
or be secured through a condition.

28.01.21: Following the submission of the Ecological Report Mount Pleasant 
Church May 2020 we advise that the application can be determined. Suggested 
conditions are provided below:

Nesting Birds
No remedial works, demolition works or vegetation clearance shall take place 
between 1st March and 31st August inclusive, unless preceded by a nesting bird 
survey undertaken by a competent ecologist. If nesting birds are present, an 
appropriate exclusion zone will be implemented and monitored until the chicks have 
fledged. No works shall be undertaken within exclusion zones whilst nesting birds 
are present.

Supervision of Remedial Works
As a precautionary measure, all remedial works to the existing structures will be 
supervised by a licensed bat consultant. A short statement of compliance will be 
submitted by the consultant upon completion of supervision.

Biodiversity Enhancement Plan
Within three months of planning approval, a Biodiversity Enhancement Plan shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority to achieve 
a net gain in biodiversity in accordance with the NPPF 2019. Such approved 
measures shall be implemented in full and maintained thereafter, with photographs 
of the measures in situ submitted to the LPA to fully discharge the condition. The 
plan shall clearly show positions, specifications and numbers of features, which will 
include (but are not limited to) the following:
• integrated bat boxes.
• building and/or tree-mounted bird boxes.
• bee bricks.
• fencing gaps 130 mm x 130 mm to maintain connectivity for hedgehogs.
• summary of ecologically beneficial landscaping (full details to be provided in 
Landscape Plans).

HPBC Aboricultural 
Officer

No objections subject to 
conditions 

Refer to Design Section

11.03.21: To gain access to any sizable machinery the applicant will need to 

Page 24



remove at least on tree.  I do not have an objection to this removal as the trees are 
relatively young.  However this must be with the agreement of the tree owner 
(NMTC) and they will need to agree replacement with their agreement on at least a 
2:1 basis.  With regards to access, I would much prefer to see some temporary 
surfacing  which does not require excavation within the rooting areas of the trees 

Any approval needs to include a condition to supply a landscaping scheme. 

AES Waste No objection. Refer to Update Sheet

01.03.21: No issues regarding waste collections.

HPK/2020/0459:

New Mills Town Council Refer to Officer Report

13.11.20: In the planning application for Ms Bannister the Town Council needs to 
make you aware that the statement made is nor completely correct. Permission for 
access has only been given in principle subject to contract. As yet no contract has 
been agreed between Ms Bannister and New Mills Town Council.

DCC Archaeology Response Awaited Refer to Update Sheet
-

DCC Highways No objections subject to 
conditions

Refer to 

16.11.20: Regarding the additional information, I note that the works are intended to 
be completed within 18 months and a dropped kerb crossing of the footway is to be 
applied for. Creation of a vehicular access to Aldersgate will need a license under 
Section 184 of the Highways Act 1980 issued by the Highway Authority. The kerb 
and footway will need to be reinstated to their original level on completion of the 
works.

Therefore, if you are minded to approve the proposals, it’s recommended that the 
following Conditions are included within the Consent:-

1. No development shall be commenced until a temporary access for 
construction purposes has been provided in accordance with a detailed 
design first submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The access shall be retained in accordance with the approved 
scheme throughout the construction period, or such other period of time as 
may be agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, free from any 
impediment to its designated use.

2. Space shall be provided within the site for storage of plant and materials, site 
accommodation, loading, unloading and manoeuvring of goods vehicles, 
parking and manoeuvring of employees and visitors vehicles, laid out and 
constructed in accordance with detailed designs first submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The facilities shall be 

Page 25



retained free from any impediment to their designated use throughout the 
construction period.

3. Prior to the development, the subject of previous consent and to be served 
by the proposed access, being brought into use, the temporary construction 
access with Aldersgate (the subject of Condition 1 [alter as necessary] 
above) shall be permanently closed with a physical barrier and the existing 
vehicle crossover reinstated as footway in accordance with a scheme first 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

12.11.20: It is noted that the proposed works are for a temporary period and the 
access track constructed using compacted Type 1 with all areas to be returned to 
their original condition on completion.  There is no detail of how long the temporary 
period is likely to be or how access from the public highway is to be formed.  It is 
unlikely that the existing footway at the proposed access point has been 
constructed in a manner to withstand regular vehicular use.  Use of unbound 
surfacing immediately adjacent to the highway may well result in extraneous 
materials being deposited on the footway and carriageway of Aldersgate.  The 
applicant should be requested to submit further details of how it is  intended to 
satisfactorily address the above issues.

HPBC Aboricultural 
Officer

Refer to Design Section

11.03.21: To gain access to any sizable machinery the applicant will need to 
remove at least on tree.  I do not have an objection to this removal as the trees are 
relatively young.  However this must be with the agreement of the tree owner 
(NMTC) and they will need to agree replacement with their agreement on at least a 
2:1 basis.  With regards to access, I would much prefer to see some temporary 
surfacing  which does not require excavation within the rooting areas of the trees 

Any approval needs to include a condition to supply a landscaping scheme. 

HPBC Environmental 
Health

Response Awaited Refer to Update Sheet

-

6. PLANNING POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION

High Peak Local Plan Adopted April 2016

S1 Sustainable Development Principles
S1a Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
S2 Settlement Hierarchy
S4 Maintaining and Enhancing an Economic Base
S6 Central Sub-area Strategy
EQ1 Climate Change
EQ5 Biodiversity
EQ6 Design and Place Making
EQ7 Built and Historic Environment
EQ9 Trees, Woodlands and hedgerows

Page 26



EQ10 Pollution Control and Unstable Land
EQ11 Flood Risk Management
E1 New Employment Development
EQ6 Promoting Peak District Tourism & Culture
H1 Location of Housing Development
H3 New Housing Development
CF6 Accessibility and Transport
CF7 Planning Obligations and Community Infrastructure Levy

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

7. POLICY AND MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS 

Planning Policy Context

7.1 The determination of a planning application should be made pursuant to 
section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, which is to 
be read in conjunction with section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990.

7.2 Section 38(6) requires the Local Planning Authority to determine planning 
applications in accordance with the development plan, unless there are 
material considerations which 'indicate otherwise'.  Section 70(2) provides that 
in determining applications the Local Planning Authority "shall have regard to 
the provisions of the Development Plan, so far as material to the application 
and to any other material considerations.”  The Development Plan currently 
consists of the Adopted High Peak Local Plan 2016.

7.3 The NPPF (National Planning Policy Framework) as revised is considered 
to be a mandatory material consideration in decision making.  The applicable 
contents of the NPPF will be referenced within the relevant sections of the 
officer report as detailed below.

7.4 As before achieving sustainable development sits at the heart of the 
NPPF as referred to within paragraphs 10 and 11.  This requires the 
consideration of three overarching and mutually dependant objectives being: 
economic, social and environmental matters where they are to be applied to 
local circumstances of character, need and opportunity as follows:

a) an economic objective – to help build a strong, responsive and 
competitive economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right types 
is available in the right places and at the right time to support growth, 
innovation and improved productivity; and by identifying and 
coordinating the provision of infrastructure; 

b) a social objective – to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, 
by ensuring that a sufficient number and range of homes can be 
provided to meet the needs of the present and future generations; and 
by fostering a well designed and safe built environment, with 

Page 27



accessible services and open spaces that reflect current and future 
needs and support communities’ health, social and cultural well being; 
and,

c) an environmental objective – to contribute to protecting and enhancing 
our natural, built and historic environment; including making the 
effective use of land, helping to improve biodiversity, using natural 
resources prudently, minimising waste and pollution, and mitigating 
and adapting to climate change, including moving to a low carbon 
economy.

7.5 LP (Local Plan) Policy S1a establishes a presumption in favour of 
sustainable development as contained within NPPF paragraph 11.  It requires 
decision makers to apply a presumption in favour of sustainable development.  
For decision makers this means that when considering development 
proposals which accord with the development plan they should be approved 
without delay or where the development plan is absent, silent or relevant 
policies are out of date, grant planning permission unless:-  

i) the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets 
of particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the 
development proposed; or 
ii) any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this 
Framework taken as a whole.

7.6 The Council can currently demonstrate 5.37 years supply of housing land 
(as at December 2019), and the Council has passed the Government’s 
Housing Delivery Test in both results published to date achieving 152% 
delivery in the 2019 measurement published in February 2020.   Accordingly, 
for decision makers this means that when considering development proposals 
which accord with the development plan they should be approved without 
delay within the context of NPPF paragraph 11.

Principle of Development

7.7 The application site seeks a mixed use development comprising of 
residential and commercial elements within the Built-up Area Boundary of 
New Mills as defined on the LP Policies Map.

7.8 In accordance with policies S1 and S1a of the High Peak Local Plan the 
Council will expect all new development to make a positive contribution 
towards the sustainability of communities and to protecting, and where 
possible enhancing the environment. When considering development 
proposals the Council will take a positive approach that reflects the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development contained in the NPPF.

7.9 Development will be directed towards the most sustainable locations in 
accordance with the settlement hierarchy as set out at LP Policy S2. In 
accordance with the settlement hierarchy, New Mills is regarded as a ‘Market 
town’ where a moderate scale of development may be acceptable, consistent 
with meeting local rural needs and maintaining or enhancing their role, 

Page 28



distinctive character or appearance whilst also maintaining existing facilities 
and services.  Accordingly, given the small scale development in the context 
of the New Mills settlement, the development is considered acceptable under 
LP Policies S2 and subject to compliance with the relevant planning policy 
context for residential and economic development.

7.10 LP Policy H1 Location of Housing Development’ states that the Council 
will ensure provision is made for housing taking into account all other policies 
in this Local Plan including: … promoting the effective reuse of land by 
encouraging housing development including redevelopment, infill … on all 
sites suitable for that purpose; supporting housing development on 
unallocated sites within defined built up area boundaries of the towns and 
larger villages and encouraging the inclusion of housing in mixed use 
schemes where housing can be accommodated in an acceptable manner 
without compromising other planning objectives as well as supporting self-
build housing schemes.  The development to restore and safeguard an 
historic structure within an edge of town centre location would bring about an 
effective re-use of land through mixed use development comprising of 
residential and commercial scale to comply with the principles embodied 
within LP Policy H1 and also the NPPF.

Housing Mix / Size

7.11 LP Policy H3 requires all new residential development to provide for a 
range of market and affordable housing types and sizes that can reasonably 
meet the requirements and future needs of a wide range of household types 
including for the elderly and people with specialist housing needs, based on 
evidence from the SMHA (Strategic Housing Market Assessment).  As well as 
providing a mix of housing that contributes positively to the promotion of a 
sustainable and inclusive community taking into account the characteristics of 
the existing housing stock in the surrounding locality.

7.12 In line with the NPPF, the site does not constitute a major development 
and is not located in a designated rural area to trigger the requirement for any 
affordable housing provision.

7.13 As a result, the following SMHA indicative split in both housing size and 
type was recommended for High Peak as set out below, with the intention of 
the re-balancing of the existing housing stock away from small terraces 
properties and 3 bedroom accommodation to 2 bedroom dwellings and good 
quality accommodation designed specifically for the growing elderly 
population.  Of note, the report has acknowledged that a flexible approach 
should be applied when dealing with housing applications in the Borough, as 
relatively lower levels of ‘housing viability’ in certain urbanised parts of the 
Borough could be compromised by an unsuitable housing mix.  Whilst the 
application mix and type deviate from such SMHA recommendations, scheme 
impacts would be modest given the small-scale of residential development 
proposed.  As well, the scheme would facilitate a live work relationship and 
bring about the rebuilding of a local heritage asset delivering a range of social 
and economic benefits within New Mills as is discussed in further detail below.

Page 29



7.14 The first floor 3-bedroom apartment favourably meets with NDSS 
(National Described Space Standards).  The studio flat with a GIA (Gross 
Internal Area) of 30.0sqm notably fails to meet the minimum 37sqm (plus 
1.0sqm) standards.  As a consequence, the applicant has been requested to 
ensure that minimum spaces standards are achieved for the studio apartment.  
Whilst no specialist housing accommodation appears to have been provided, 
a lift provides access to the first floor dwelling.  The applicant has been 
requested to demonstrate how well the units would score against accessibility 
standards as set out in the Optional Requirement M4 (2) of Part M of the 
Building Regulations and will be reported on the Update Sheet.  Subject to the 
applicant demonstrating compliance with NDSS regarding the studio 
apartment, the scheme would accord with LP Policy H3 and the NDFF.

7.15 In meeting LP Policy EQ1 ‘Climate Change’ objectives, the applicant sets 
out that the whole fabric would be upgraded thermally and work towards the 
Enerphit standard given the historic nature of the building and the difficulties 
of insulating the existing walls internally.  It is further set out that the scheme 
aims to make use of renewable energy in the form of a ground source heat 
pump that would obtain heat and cooling through bore holes in the ground 
and solar photovoltaics located on the roof of the workshops.  Accordingly, the 
scheme would assist in mitigating and adapting to climate change to achieve 
compliance with LP Policy EQ1 and the NPPF.

Employment

7.16 LP Policy S4 ‘Maintaining and Enhancing an Economic Base’ states that 
the Council will maintain and where possible, enhance the economic base of 
the Plan Area.  Of relevance to the proposal, the policy aims to deliver these 
requirements by: (1) Encouraging and making provision for small-scale and 
start-up businesses including, through the support of innovation centres and 
managed workspace and (2) Supporting the appropriate improvement, 
enhancement and expansion of existing businesses (3) Encouraging and 
making provision for office development, particularly within the Main Market 
Towns and (3) Providing facilities that will allow people to work closer to 
home, in a creative environment with the potential for synergies between 
different occupants bringing social and economic benefits.  

7.17 In further detail, LP Policy E1 ‘New Employment Development’ is 
supportive of new business development in sustainable location that 
contribute towards the creation of a wide range of jobs, education and training 
opportunities, including supporting business development outside allocated 
employment sites or Primary Employment Zones but within the built up area 
when it would not create undue harm to the character, appearance or amenity 
of an area.  The scheme would deliver 192.0sqm GIA of flexible Use Class E 
‘Business, Commercial and Service’ to comply with such employment related 
policy, including the NPPF.  Any resultant amenity harm would not result from 
the mixed use development at this edge of Town Centre location as is 
discussed in further detail below.

Heritage and Design

Page 30



7.18 The chapel (non-designated heritage asset) is prominently sited in the 
New Mills Conservation Area, situated alongside the Town Hall and other 
buildings of high heritage value. The chapel suffered a fire in 1993 and since 
then has become a roofless ruin, disappearing behind an overgrown 
graveyard. 

7.19 The application proposes the renovation and conversion of the chapel to 
create a ground floor commercial space and studio apartment with a further 
apartment on the first floor. It is proposed to re-roof the main section of the 
chapel using a contemporary metal roof, matching the historic profile, but 
leaving the former Sunday School room at the rear as a roofless enclosure to 
form a garden with the footprint of the building to be retained.  The land 
around the building will remain as a graveyard, clearing the ground around the 
standing stones.  The scheme’s design philosophy is to retain the character of 
the building but to distinguish new elements from the old through use of 
complimentary materials and colours making new elements recessive. 

7.20 Of relevance, LP Policies S1, EQ6 and EQ7 all seek to secure high 
quality design in all developments that responds positively to its environment 
and contributes to local distinctiveness and a sense of place by taking 
account of the distinct character, townscape and setting of the area.  The 
design merits of the scheme are addressed below in the context of identified 
policies, including the NPPF.  The Council’s Design Guide Supplementary 
Planning Document states that “sensitive alteration should work with, and not 
against, the building’s character.  The aim should be to revitalise the building 
without altering its fundamental character”.

7.21 LP Policy EQ7 requires development proposals in Conservation Areas to 
demonstrate how the proposal has taken account of the distinctive character 
and setting of individual Conservation Areas including open spaces and 
natural features and how this has been reflected in the layout, design, form, 
scale, mass, use of traditional materials and detailing, in accordance with 
Character Appraisals where available as does the NPPF.  There is a statutory 
duty for the Council to take into account the desirability of preserving or 
enhancing the character or appearance of that area as part the planning 
application (Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990) 
given the scheme’s location within the New Mills Conservation Area.  

7.22 The relevant Character Appraisal refers more than once to the Mount 
Pleasant chapel, including as a ‘prominent individual building’ from the period 
of increased building following the construction of the Union Bridge in 1887.  
The building is also mentioned as a prominent structure that flanks the Town 
Hall forecourt, thus creating a small "off-street" square.  The chapel is also 
listed as one of a small number of ‘buildings that due to their location, style, 
historical development, listing or townscape quality make a significant 
contribution to the character of this area and the conservation area as a 
whole’.  Although, it is noted that ‘this relates to the architectural and historic 
relevance of the surviving building only. The front of the site is overgrown and 
the land derelict.  This aspect has a negative impact upon the character of the 
conservation area’.  Due to this appraised negative impact on the 
Conservation Area, it can be concluded that sensitive conversion and 
development of the derelict site would improve its quality and respect its 

Page 31



distinctive character and setting. The Council’s Conservation Officer states 
that the building remains of ‘great townscape value and is worthy of repair and 
re-use’.

7.23 NPPF para 197 requires “The effect of an application on the significance 
of a non-designated heritage asset should be taken into account in 
determining the application. In weighing applications that directly or indirectly 
affect non-designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be required 
having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the 
heritage asset” as does LP Policy EQ7.

7.24 The Council’s Conservation Officer is supportive of the scheme as an 
“exciting proposal for the re-use of this sadly neglected building and offers a 
modern approach dealing with the constraints of the remaining historic 
façade”.  Following the request for further details, including a revised Heritage 
Statement and Structural Engineers Report, no objections have been raised 
on conservation grounds. The siting of the bin store has been altered and its 
new location facilitates the retention of the stone boundary wall at the front of 
the site.  It is considered that its new position is still a weakness of the 
scheme. However, it would not cause harm to the Conservation Area as a 
designated heritage asset and any detriment would be significantly 
outweighed by the benefit of reuse of the chapel subject to further details to 
ensure that it is visually tucked away.

7.25 While the proposed external changes to the chapel are not in traditional 
materials – such as the roof and window materials – they are in keeping with 
and respect the building’s character.  The applicant states that the new steel 
roof would be similar in appearance to traditional lead roofs, an example of 
which is found on the neighbouring Town Hall. Accordingly, the proposed 
development would be appropriate in its setting and is of good design which 
will be beneficial to the surrounding Conservation Area subject to a schedule 
of conditions relating to external appearance and landscaping as well as a 
schedule of renovation works to accord with the relevant design and heritage 
policies and NPPF.

Archaeology

7.26 NPPF para 189 states that “Where a site on which development is 
proposed includes, or has the potential to include, heritage assets with 
archaeological interest, local planning authorities should require developers to 
submit an appropriate desk-based assessment and, where necessary, a field 
evaluation”.

7.27 The County Archaeologist previously raised concerns regarding works 
already underway including those to stabilise the structure and remove debris, 
with the potential for discovery of archaeological remains during this process. 
Works have now been agreed following provision of an acceptable 
archaeological Written Scheme of Investigation to accord with LP Policy EQ7 
and the NPPF.  County Archaeology comments concerning the temporary 
access for construction works will be reported on the Update Sheet.

Page 32



Trees and Landscaping

7.28 LP Policy EQ9 seeks to protect trees and hedgerows. NPPF para 175 (c) 
advises that where development would result “in the loss of deterioration of 
irreplaceable habitats (such as ancient woodland and ancient or veteran 
trees) it should be refused, unless there are wholly exceptional reasons and a 
suitable compensation strategy exists.

7.29 In relation to the scheme for construction temporary access works, the 
Council’s Arboricultural Officer confirms that it is likely that there will be limited 
tree loss.  This is not wholly objected to as the trees are relatively young. 
However, any removal would need to be agreed with the landowner being the 
Town Council.  As well, construction access should be facilitated by 
temporary surfacing, which does not require excavation within the rooting 
areas of the trees.  The replacement tree planting scheme would need to be 
agreed on at least a 2:1 basis for the scheme to be considered as acceptable 
from a trees perspective.  A detailed landscaping scheme is advised for the 
chapel redevelopment.  Subject to the imposition of suitable conditions, the 
scheme would accord with LP Policy EQ9 and the NPPF.

Ecological Impact

7.30 LP Policy EQ5 ‘Biodiversity’ advises that biodiversity and ecological 
resources should be conserved.  It states that development will not be 
permitted which would have an adverse impact upon protected species.  
NPPF para 17 (a) states “if significant harm to biodiversity resulting from a 
development cannot be avoided (through locating on an alternative site with 
less harmful impacts), adequately mitigated, or, as a last resort, compensated 
for, then planning permission should be refused”.

7.31 The EC Habitats Directive 1992 requires the UK to maintain a system of 
strict protection for protected species and their habitats. The Directive only 
allows disturbance, or deterioration or destruction of breeding sites or resting 
places in the interests of public health and public safety, or for other 
imperative reasons of overriding public interest, including those of a social or 
economic nature and beneficial consequences of primary importance for the 
environment.  This is provided that there is no satisfactory alternative and no 
detriment to the maintenance of the species population at favourable 
conservation status in their natural range.

7.32 DWT (Derbyshire Wildlife Trust) raise no objection to the scheme. While 
conflicting reports present different conclusions regarding the suitability of the 
site as a habitat for bats, they conclude that the ruinous nature of the building 
and its exposed location render the discovery of bats unlikely. Thus DWT 
advise that works can proceed subject to supervision by a licensed bat 
worker, and a stop to works should bats be discovered. It is also advised that 
works take place prior to jackdaw breeding season due to a record of nests in 
the chimney stacks.  Subject to the imposition of suitable conditions, the 
scheme would accord with LP Policy EQ5 and the NPPF.

Page 33



Highway Safety

7.33 LP Policy CF6 ‘Accessibility and Transport’ seeks to ensure that new 
development can be safely accessed in a sustainable manner and minimise 
the need to travel, particularly by unsustainable modes.  NPPF para 109 
advises that “Development should only be prevented or refused on highway 
grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the 
residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe”.

7.34 Although no onsite car parking is proposed, there are several public car 
parks very close to the site. The applicant also states that the creation of 
onsite parking would be difficult due to land levels and due to the existence of 
the graveyard. The Highways Authority consider that an objection on 
highways grounds would be unsustainable given the ample parking in the 
nearby town centre.  It is also considered that an objection on parking 
grounds may prevent the redevelopment of this derelict site in view of heritage 
considerations. However, cycle storage facilities should be explored.  No 
objections are raised to the temporary access constructions works subject to 
securing further details. 

7.35 Subject to the imposition of suitable conditions, including securing 
suitable cycle storage facilities and despite the lack of onsite car parking, the 
proposal accords with LP Policy CF6 and the NPPF.

Environmental Matters

7.36 Of relevance, LP Policy EQ10 ‘Pollution Control and Unstable Land’ 
seeks to protect people and the environment from unsafe and polluted 
environments, requiring mitigation if necessary.

7.37 The Council Environmental Health Department raise no objection to the 
scheme.  It is confirmed that the submitted Envirosearch Report indicates that 
there is a low risk of land contamination. However, the proposed end use of 
the development is particularly sensitive to the presence of land 
contamination.  Furthermore, there should be adequate noise protection 
between the commercial and residential elements of the development.  It is 
also stated that the construction / demolition stage of the development could 
lead to an increase of noise and dust etc. experienced at nearby sensitive 
premises with a subsequent loss of residential amenity.  

7.38 Subject to the imposition of suitable conditions including securing 
matters of suitable acoustic insulation for the building and a Construction 
Environmental Management Plan (CEMP), the proposal accords with LP 
Policy EQ10 and the NPPF.  Comments are awaited regarding the temporary 
construction access proposals and will be reported via the Update Sheet.

Drainage / Flood Risk

7.39 LP Policy EQ11 ‘Flood Risk Management’ discusses that the Council will 
support development proposals that avoid areas of current or future flood risk 
and which do not increase the risk of flooding elsewhere, where this is viable 

Page 34



and compatible with other policies aimed at achieving sustainable patterns of 
development.

7.40 Whilst the application site is not within a flood zone, comments are 
awaited from United Utilities and will be reported via the Update Sheet.

Amenity

7.41 LP Policy EQ6 ‘Design and Place Making’ also stipulates that 
development should achieve a satisfactory relationship to adjacent 
development and should not cause unacceptable effects by reason of visual 
intrusion, overlooking, shadowing, overbearing or other adverse impacts on 
local character and amenity.  Similarly NPPF para 137(f) requires a high 
standard of amenity for existing and future users’. 

7.42 The Adopted SPD on ‘Residential Design’ states that the distance 
between habitable room windows should be 21.0m and for every change in 
level of 0.5m increase, the increase in distance between the properties should 
be 1.0m.  The guidance in the SPD allows for variation in distances in order to 
accommodate particular site circumstances.

7.43 The first floor of the scheme is lit entirely by rooflights, which 
consequently removes the possibility of overlooking.  The ground floor 
proposes to reinstate the large window form, which does facilitate overlooking. 
However, this would be limited to the north elevation and its relationship with 
no.1 Spring Bank.  The chapel is mostly set back from the adjoining dwelling 
to the north, although, there is some concern that any windows overlooking its 
garden may lead to overlooking.  To safeguard the residential amenity of 
No.1, a condition is recommended securing a scheme of obscured glazing to 
the window(s) within the northern elevation.

7.44 Accordingly, the proposal accords with LP Policy EQ6, the Residential 
Design SPD and the NPPF.

8. PLANNING BALANCE & CONCLUSIONS

8.1 Overall, the scheme proposal would constitute a sustainable form of 
development in line with LP Policies S1 and S1a and NPPF paragraph 11. As 
well, it accords with the relevant local development plan policies and other 
material considerations which include the NPPF. 

8.2 In accordance with NPPF paragraph 11, the application is thereby 
recommended for approval.

9.  RECOMMENDATIONS 

HPK/2020/0515: 

A. That DELEGATED AUTHORITY be granted to the Head of 
Development Services and the Chair of the Development Control 

Page 35



Committee to add additional conditions if necessary with regard 
to an outstanding United Utility consultation and planning 
permission be APPROVED subject to conditions as follows:

1. 3-Year Time Limit
2. Approved Plans
3. HPBC Conservation Officer Conditions
4. Landscaping Scheme & Implementation
5. HPBC Environmental Health Conditions
6. Derbyshire Wildlife Trust Conditions
7. DCC Archaeology Conditions
8. Obscured Glazing

HPK/2020/0459

A. That DELEGATED AUTHORITY be granted to the Head of 
Development Services and the Chair of the Development Control 
Committee to add additional conditions if necessary with regard 
to outstanding County Archaeology and HPBC Environmental 
Health consultations and planning permission be APPROVED 
subject to conditions as follows:

1. Temporary Permission Restoration Scheme
2. Approved Plans
3. Detailed Surfacing Works & Location of Plant / Machinery

B. In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 
Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add 
conditions/informatives/planning obligations or reasons for 
approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the Head of 
Development Services has delegated authority to do so in 
consultation with the Chairman of the Development Control 
Committee, provided that the changes do not exceed the 
substantive nature of the Committee’s decision.

Informative(s)

1. This recommendation is made following careful consideration of all the 
issues raised through the application process and thorough discussion 
with the applicants. In accordance with Paragraph 187 of the NPPF the 
Case Officer has sought solutions where possible to secure a 
development that improves the economic, social and environmental 
conditions of the area.

Site Plan

Page 36



Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



1

HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE

Date 22nd March 2021

Application 
No:

HPK/2021/0006

Location Land across the road from 3 Silk Hill, Buxworth, Derbyshire, SK23 
7TA

Proposal Retrospective permission for a shed with a non permanent base 
measuring 12 sqr meters to replace  existing greenhouse

Applicant Mrs Jo Holden
Agent None
Parish/ward Blackwood Date registered 11th January 2021
If you have a question about this report please contact: Tom Hiles, Tel. 01298 
28400 extension 5430, tom.hiles@highpeak.gov.uk 

1. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

Refuse

1. REASON FOR COMMITTEE DETERMINATION

1.1 This application has been brought before the Development Control 
Committee at the request of the Chairman because it is an application 
for retrospective planning permission and is of interest to the local 
community. 

2. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS

2.1 The application site is a triangular parcel of open space measuring 
around 0.04ha to the south of Buxworth located between Silk Hill and 
the A6. The site is opposite 3-6 Silk Hill, a row of stone terraced 
houses, and is surrounded at the west by an open plot hosting a 
domestic garage, to the north (rear) by woodland, and to the south 
(front) and east by Silk Hill.  The site is within the Green Belt and Open 
Countryside and is just outside a defined Built Up Area Boundary for 
Buxworth.

2.2 The site appears to have been in use as a domestic garden for some 
time and previously hosted a small greenhouse at the rear corner. The 
applicants are the owners of no. 3 Silk Hill, and the application notes 
over time they have cleared the site which was previously overgrown 
and established it as a garden. The site is not within the same 
ownership as their house at no. 3 but is owned by Highways England 
and is used by the applicants under licence.

Page 39

Agenda Item 7



2

3. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL 

3.1 Retrospective permission is sought for a timber shed located to the 
rear corner of the site.  The shed measures 3m x 3.7m and 3m to ridge 
height. A small flagged patio has been laid to the front of the shed. The 
application notes that the shed was built after the greenhouse was 
blown down in a storm. Photos submitted with the application indicate 
that the shed is used in part as a kind of garden room.

3.2 The application notes that:

“The shed has seating inside as well and space for gardening tools and 
the mower needed to maintain the land... otherwise these tools would 
have to taken across the road to our home and up a steep flight of 
steps to the back garden. The shed had been fantastic during 
lockdown allowing the tenants of the hamlet on Silk Hill outside space 
during Lockdowns and being in Tiers due the pandemic of Covid… The 
shed is a replacement for the old greenhouse but a better built 
structure offering security for gardening equipment and a lovely place 
for residents to enjoy some outside space.”

3.3 A letter submitted with the application further notes that:

“The shed/garden has been a place which has given many of the 
residents of the hamlet a life line during the pandemic for their 
wellbeing. Lots of the residents have no outdoor space so we have 
shared the area with them. Our local book club have really benefited 
from a place to swop books or take some time out in a nice 
environment while being safe and socially distancing. We have letters 
from all the local residents supporting the shed and commenting on 
how it enhances the space.”

3.4 The following plans have been submitted with the application:

- Location Plan
- Block Plan
- Details (elevations)
- Measurements (elevations with dimensions)
- Parking Plan indicating availability of on-street parking

3.5 The application is accompanied by a covering letter explaining the 
background and circumstances, summarised above. 

3.6 The application, the details attached to it including the plans, 
comments made by residents and the responses of the consultees can 
be found on the Council’s website at: 
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServle
t?PKID=245012

Page 40

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=245012
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=245012


3

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

4.1 There are no previous planning applications relating to the site.

5. PLANNING POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION

High Peak Local Plan 2016

S 1 - Sustainable Development Principles
S 1a - Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
CF 6 - Accessibility and Transport
EQ 3 – Rural Development
EQ 4 – Green Belt development
EQ 6 - Design and Place Making
EQ 9 – Trees, woodland and hedgerows

National Planning Policy Framework

Achieving Sustainable Development Chapter 2
Achieving Well Designed Places Chapter 12
Protecting Green Belt Land Chapter 13

6. CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT

Site notice Expiry date for comments:  25th February 2021
Neighbour letters Expiry date for comments:    2nd February 2020
Press Notice None

Neighbours

6.1 Neighbours were contacted to by way of written letters. Three 
comments were received from nearby residents, all of which were in 
support of the application. These noted that the site is used by the 
community as a tranquil space, that the shed provides safe and secure 
storage for equipment used for maintaining the land, and that the shed 
is attractively designed, enhances the landscape and provides wildlife 
habitat.

Parish Council

6.2 Chinley, Buxworth & Brownside Parish Council - Support this 
application since it provides a benefit to the local community at Silk Hill 
and causes no harm to the Green Belt.

7. POLICY AND PLANNING BALANCE 

Planning Policies

Page 41



4

7.1 The determination of a planning application is to be made pursuant to 
section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, 
which is to be read in conjunction with section 70(2) of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990. 

7.2 Section 38(6) requires the local planning authority to determine 
planning applications in accordance with the development plan, unless 
there are material circumstances which 'indicate otherwise'. Section 
70(2) provides that in determining applications the local planning 
authority "shall have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, 
so far as material to the application and to any other material 
considerations." The Development Plan consists of the High Peak 
Local Plan Policies Adopted April 2016.

7.3 Other material considerations include the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF), Supplementary Design Guidance, and National 
Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG). Paragraph 11 of the NPPF explains 
that at the heart of the Framework is the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development.  For decision makers this means that when 
considering development proposals which accord with the development 
plan, they should be approved without delay, but where the 
development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out of date, 
grant planning permission unless any adverse impacts would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed 
against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole.

Principle of Development: Green Belt and Open Countryside

7.4 The site is situated outside the built-up area boundary of any town or 
larger village as defined within the adopted Proposals Map, and 
therefore lies in the Open Countryside. The site is also situated within 
the North Derbyshire Green Belt.

7.5 As such, the application is subject to Local Plan (LP) Policies EQ3 and 
EQ4 of the Local Plan which refer to Rural Development and Green 
Belt Development respectively.

7.6 LP Policy EQ3 supports development associated with recreational and 
open space uses in accessible and least environmentally sensitive 
locations. Whilst the development understood to in part be in use for 
recreational purposes (by the applicants and other local residents), it is 
not considered that the site is located in an accessible location, being 
somewhat isolated, and not directly served by public transport. As such 
the proposal is not supported by EQ3.

7.7 LP Policy EQ4 requires development proposals in the Green Belt to be 
assessed and determined in line with national policy. Chapter 13 of the 
NPPF (2019) contains the relevant national Green Belt policies that 
apply to this application.

Page 42



5

7.8 Paragraph 133 of the NPPF clarifies that the fundamental aim of the 
Green Belt is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently 
open; their essential characteristics being their openness and 
permanence. Paragraph 134 goes on to set out the five purposes of 
the Green Belt:

a) to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas;
b) to prevent neighbouring towns merging in to one another;
c) to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment;
d) to prevent the setting and special character of historic towns;
e) to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of 
derelict and other urban land

7.9 In determining applications, paragraph 143 of the NPPF states that 
inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt 
and should not be approved except in very special circumstances.

7.10 Paragraph 144 of the NPPF goes on to state that substantial weight 
should be given to any harm to the Green Belt. ‘Very Special 
Circumstances’ will not exist unless the potential harm to the Green 
Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm, is clearly 
outweighed by other considerations. 

7.11 Paragraphs 145 and 146 of the NPPF contain a list of the types of 
development which are classified as exceptions to inappropriate 
development, and thus acceptable in principle. These include the 
following, which are considered to be relevant to the circumstances.

Buildings for agriculture

7.12 Paragraph 145 part a) notes that buildings for agriculture and forestry 
are excepted from the general principle against new development in 
the Green Belt.

7.13 It does not appear that the building is essential or primarily required for 
agricultural or forestry purposes.  Horticulture does fall within the 
definition of agriculture. Whilst the building is in part used to store tools 
for the maintenance of the site, and replaces a greenhouse which was 
previously on the site, horticultural activities on the site are extremely 
limited. Predominantly the site is laid to grass, there is a small patio 
area with a few potted plants, but there is no evidence of for example, 
vegetable, plant or shrub growing etc. Furthermore, evidence from the 
applicant and supporters indicates that the building used to a 
significant degree as a summerhouse, community room, book club 
meeting place etc. undertaken on the site. As such the maintenance 
purpose of the building does not relate to agriculture, and the building 
is not primarily a building for agriculture or forestry.

Page 43



6

Outdoor recreation

7.14 Paragraph 145 part b) notes that appropriate facilities for outdoor sport 
and outdoor recreation are appropriate as long as the facilities 
preserve the openness of the Green Belt and do not conflict with the 
purposes of including land within it. It is understood that the garden and 
the shed are used by the applicants and other residents for relaxation 
and for community activities, and that the shed is also used to store 
equipment used to maintain the site. The use of the shed for relaxing 
appears to be separate to the use of the rest of the site for relaxing, in 
other words the shed does not appear to be required to facilitate 
outdoor recreation at the site. Whilst it is understood that the shed also 
provides convenient storage of equipment for maintaining the garden 
(which could be considered to be appropriate to supporting the outdoor 
recreation use of the site), it is clear that this is not strictly necessary 
given the option to store equipment at the applicants’ home opposite 
the site. In any case this is only part of the purpose of the building.  For 
these reasons, the shed cannot be considered to comprise an 
appropriate facility for outdoor recreation.

Replacement buildings

7.15 Whilst the application notes that the shed replaced an existing 
greenhouse on the site, it does not appear that the shed would fully be 
in the same use, and in any case it appears (with reference to Street 
View imagery) that the shed is materially larger than the former 
greenhouse. The proposal would therefore not comprise the exception 
noted under NPPF paragraph 145 part d). 

Infill development

7.16 The site is not an infill site, due to the open aspect to the north (rear) 
and east sides. The site is also outside the defined Built Up Area 
Boundary for Buxworth. Development of the site would therefore not 
comprise limited infilling within a village, and would not comply with 
paragraph 145 part e).

Previously developed land

7.17 The shed has replaced a previous greenhouse, which would appear to 
have been a temporary structure. The site is therefore not considered 
to comprise previously developed land. The shed has a greater impact 
on the openness of the Green Belt than greenhouse owing to it’s 
greater size and solid construction. The development therefore does 
not comprise a form of development permitted by paragraph 145 part 
g).

7.18 The proposed development would not comprise any other forms of 
appropriate development in the Green Belt, and would therefore be 
inappropriate development and should not be approved unless there 

Page 44



7

are very special circumstances which would clearly outweigh the harm 
by reason of inappropriateness, harm to the purposes of including land 
within the Green Belt, and any other harm resulting from the proposed 
development. It is considered that the proposal also causes moderate 
harm to two of the purposes of including land within the Green Belt: 
assisting in the safeguarding of the countryside from encroachment, 
and assisting in urban regeneration. It is not considered that the 
proposal results in harm in terms of any other planning considerations.  
The NPPF notes that substantial weight should be attributed to any 
harm to the Green Belt. 

7.19 Whilst the applicant has explained the circumstances behind the 
building of the shed and the benefits of it, these have not been put 
forward as very special circumstances, and it is not considered that the 
benefits to local residents or to the maintenance of the site comprise 
very special circumstances. There are therefore no considerations 
which would outweigh the identified harm to the Green Belt.

7.20 For these reasons, approval of the development would be contrary to 
local policy EQ 4 and NPPF paragraphs 143-147, and would be 
unacceptable in principle.

7.21 Whilst it is also necessary to consider the proposed development in 
terms of all other material planning considerations, as follows, the 
acceptability (or not) in terms of these matters does not alter the 
acceptability of the proposal in basic principle.

Design, Character and Appearance

7.22 LP Policy S1 sets out a number of sustainability principles which all 
new development proposals should incorporate in order to make a 
positive contribution towards the sustainability of communities and to 
protect, and where possible enhance the environment.

7.23 LP Policy EQ6 states that all development should be well designed to 
respect and contribute positively to the character, identity and context 
of High Peak’s townscapes, in terms of scale, height, density, and 
layout.

7.24 NPPF paragraph 127 states amongst other matters that new 
developments should add to the overall quality of the area, be visually 
attractive as a result of good architecture and sympathetic to the 
surrounding built environment.

7.25 The proposal is for a timber shed in a typical form and proportions. It is 
considered that the appearance of the building is appropriate to its 
purpose and sympathetic to the transitional residential to rural 
character of the site and the surrounding area. The shed is therefore 
considered to be acceptable in design terms and to support these 
objectives. 

Page 45



8

Public and Residential Amenity

7.26 LP Policy EQ6 requires all new development to have a satisfactory 
relationship with existing land and buildings and protects the amenity of 
the area, which includes residential amenity of neighbouring properties. 
Aspects of residential amenity include impacts such as a loss of 
sunlight, overshadowing and overbearing impacts, loss of outlook, and 
loss of privacy.

7.27 LP Policy EQ10 states that the Council will protect people and the 
environment from unsafe, unhealthy and polluted environments by 
ensuring development avoid potential adverse effects by imposing 
planning conditions that mitigate and strictly control issues such as 
noise and light intrusion.

7.28 Paragraph 127 of the NPPF states that planning should create places 
with a high standard of amenity for all existing and future users. 

7.29 Paragraph 180 of the NPPF highlights that planning decisions should 
ensure that new development is appropriate for its location through 
mitigating and reducing noise impacts, and limiting light pollution from 
artificial light on local amenity.

7.30 The building is set around 18m from the closest dwellings, at 3-6 Silk 
Hill, and is set back from the road. Owing to the scale and design of the 
proposal and the distance to any residential buildings, it is not 
considered that any harm to residential or public amenity has resulted 
from the structure, and would comply with the objectives of policies 
EQ6 and E10 and paragraphs 127 and 180 of the NPPF.

Trees

7.31 Policy EQ9 notes that existing trees, woodlands and hedgerows will be 
protected, including by requiring that existing woodlands, healthy 
mature trees and hedgerows are retained and integrated within a 
proposed development unless the need for, and benefits of, the 
development clearly outweigh their loss.

7.32 The building is placed close to mature, non-protected trees at the rear. 
Given the timber construction of the structure it appears unlikely that 
any ground works will have had any significant impact on the roots of 
the nearby trees. Accordingly it is considered that the proposal would 
comply with the objectives of policy EQ9.

Access, Parking Provision and Highway Safety

Page 46



9

7.33 LP Policy CF6 seeks to ensure that development can be safely 
accessed in a sustainable manner. The policy requires new 
development can be integrated within existing or proposed 
infrastructure, does not lead to an increase in on street parking to the 
detriment of the free and safe flow of traffic, and provides details of 
proposed parking provision based on an assessment of parking need 
and the impact on the surrounding road network.

7.34 Paragraph 108 of the NPPF states that in assessing applications for 
development, it should be ensured that safe and suitable access to the 
site can be achieved for all users. Paragraph 109 goes on to state that 
development should only be prevented or refused on highway grounds 
if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the 
residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.

 
7.35 DCC Highways has not objected to the development and it is 

considered that the development does not raise any highway safety 
concerns and therefore complies with Policy CF6 of the Local Plan.

Planning Balance & Conclusion

7.36 LP Policy S1a reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development set out within paragraph 11 of the NPPF. For decision 
taking this means approving development proposals that accord with 
an up-to-date development without delay; or where there are no 
relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most 
important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting 
planning permission, unless:

- the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or 
assets of particular importance provides a clear reason for 
refusing the development proposed; or

- any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the 
policies in this Framework taken as a whole.

7.37 The application site lies within the Green Belt. As set out above, the 
proposal would comprise inappropriate development. The NPPF 
requires that inappropriate development in the Green Belt only be 
approved where there are very special circumstances which would 
clearly outweigh the harm resulting from inappropriateness, and any 
harm to the purposes of including land within the Green Belt.  As well 
as comprising inappropriate development in the Green Belt, it is also 
considered that the development would also result in moderate harm to 
the purposes of including land within it.  It is not considered that any of 
the circumstances relating to the development would comprise very 
special circumstances, and therefore that there is no weight in the 

Page 47



10

balance to be attributed against the harm which would result from the 
development.

7.38 The proposed development is not considered to comprise a form of 
development in the Open Countryside supported by policy EQ3, and 
approval would therefore be contrary to this policy.

7.39 The proposal is acceptable in terms of effects on the character of the 
local area, residential amenity, trees and highways safety, but these 
are neutral considerations in the planning balance and do not outweigh 
the unacceptability of the development in basic principle.

7.40 For these reasons it is recommended that retrospective permission 
should be refused.

        8. RECOMMENDATIONS

A. REFUSE for the following reason:

The proposed development represents inappropriate development in the 
Green Belt and would result in harm due to the inappropriateness and 
harm to the purposes of including land within the Green Belt. There are 
no very special circumstances clearly outweighing the harm arising 
from the proposal. The proposal does not comprise an acceptable form 
of development in the Open Countryside.  Approval of the proposed 
development would therefore be contrary to policies EQ 3 and EQ 4 of 
the High Peak Local Plan, and paragraphs 143-147 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework 2019.

B. In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 
Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add 
conditions/informative/planning obligations or reasons for 
approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the Head of 
Development Services has delegated authority to do so in consultation 
with the Chairman of the Committee, provided that the changes do not 
exceed the substantive nature of the Committee’s decision.

This recommendation is made following careful consideration of all the issues 
raised through the application process. Given that the application is 
retrospective and the proposed development is inappropriate in principle, 
there has been no scope to seek a positive solution. The Council has 
therefore acted in accordance with Paragraph 187 of the NPPF, requiring 
Local Planning Authorities to positively engage with planning applicants.

Page 48



11

Site plan

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



1

HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE

22nd March 2021

Application 
No:

HPK/2021/0005

Location Serpentine Community Garden, Serpentine Walk, Off 
Burlington Road, Buxton, 

Proposal Erection of a Polytunnel 
Applicant Ms Madeline Hall, c/o Serpentine Community Garden Society 

CIO
Agent N/A 
Ward/Parish Corbar Ward Date registered 22/01/2021
If you have a question about this report please contact: Faye Plant 
faye.plant@highepak.gov.uk 01538 395400 ext. 4995

1. REFERRAL 

1.1 The application is referred to the Development Control Committee 
because HPBC is the landowner and the application has been submitted 
by Councillor Hall. 

SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

APPROVE subject to conditions

2. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS

2.1 The application site is an area located between the Serpentine Walks park 
and the plots on the northern side of Lismore Road. It is accessed via a 
driveway off Burlington Road to the east. Pedestrian access is also 
possible from St John’s Road. The site is partly a former High Peak 
Borough Council plant nursery and partly a former depot which closed in 
2019 and has since been leased to the Serpentine Community Garden 
Society (Charitable Incorporated Organisation).

2.2 The site is now run as a community garden and nursery. There are
already two polytunnels and a greenhouse on site.

2.3 The application site is located wholly within The Park Conservation Area, 
with a small part of the access road within The Central Conservation area. 
Moreover the site is adjacent to but does not fall within the Serpentine 
Walks Grade II* historic park.

3. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL 

3.1 It is proposed to construct a polytunnel, which would sit on a concrete

Page 51

Agenda Item 8

mailto:faye.plant@highepak.gov.uk


2

base which previously supported a tractor garage, now demolished, 
dating from when the use of the site was used as a depot.  

3.2 The proposed polytunnel would be 6.3m by 10.4m, with a maximum 
height of 2.8m and would be constructed via a framework of steel hoops 
pinned into the slab and bolted to base plates with timber base rails. The 
applicant states that the structure would be temporary in its nature and 
removable by a small team in less than a day.

3.3 Full details of the proposal can be found at:

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?
PKID=244991 

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

HPK/2012/0277 - Proposed Outline Application For Three New Four Bed Dwellings
Withdrawn

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=1362
20

HPK/2017/0036 - Serpentine House - Proposed single garage at rear of property, 
replace existing white wooden picket fence & gate at front of property, with iron 
railings and gates. Block pave driveway at front and rear of property.
Approved 24/03/2017

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=2136
89

5. PLANNING POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION

Adopted High Peak Local Plan 2016

S1 Development Principles
S1a Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
S7 Buxton Sub-area Strategy 
EQ1 Climate Change 
EQ6 Design and Place Making
EQ7 Built and Historic Environment
CF4 Open Space, Sports and Recreation Facilities
CF5 Provision and Retention of Local Community Services and Facilities 

Supplementary Planning Guidance

Page 52

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=244991
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=244991
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=136220
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=136220
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=213689
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=213689
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=213689


3

High Peak Design Guide 2018
Buxton Conservation Areas Character Appraisal 2007

National Planning Policy Framework

Paragraph 11: The Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
Section(s) 4, 8, 12 and 16

6. CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT

Site notice Expiry date for comments: 09/03/2021
Neighbour letters Expiry date for comments: 16/02/2021
Press Notice Expiry date for comments: 25/02/2021

Neighbours

Neither (1)

 No objection as it is a low-level temporary structure not being used for 
commercial or residential use

Support (16)

 The community garden is a valuable community resource providing education 
and volunteering opportunities.

 The polytunnel will allow the range of plants grown to be expanded.
 This organisation is doing a supremely worthwhile job for the future of our 

community and needs as much support as it can get. 
 Lockdown has shown how important working in nature and growing your own 

food is to our sense of wellbeing
 Food from the garden is used for donations and this can be increased 
 It continues a long tradition of horticulture on this site
 There is scope for expanded work with schools and the College
 This will allow food to be grown in a longer growing season
 Support voiced from NHS primary care staff – benefits for community health
 Opportunity to carry on work in COVID safe manner
 The site was previously in very poor condition and this application represents 

continued improvement
 The development would be classed as sustainable
 No adverse visual impacts of new polytunnel
 Good use for otherwise unusable concreted area of land
 More volunteers can be accommodated
 Work with the Heritage Seed Bank can be expanded
 There was an unsightly shed on this spot for many years – this is improvement
 It would not be a permanent feature, allowing future change

Consultations

Page 53



4

Consultee Comment Officer 
response

Conservation 
Officer

I can’t see any objection to the proposal to site a 
polytunnel on the site of a former tractor shed with 
concrete base as this forms part of an established 
Community Garden. No harm to heritage assets.

7.9 - 7.13

DCC 
Highways

No objection 7.17

7. POLICY AND MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS AND PLANNING BALANCE 

   Policy Context

7.1 The determination of a planning application should be made pursuant to section 
38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, which is to be read in 
conjunction with section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

7.2 Section 38(6) requires the Local Planning Authority to determine planning 
applications in accordance with the development plan, unless there are material 
considerations which 'indicate otherwise'.  Section 70(2) provides that in 
determining applications the Local planning Authority "shall have regard to the 
provisions of the Development Plan, so far as material to the application and to 
any other material considerations.”  The Development Plan consists of the High 
Peak Local Plan Policies Adopted April 2016.

7.3 Other material considerations include the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) and National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG). Paragraph 11 of the 
NPPF explains that at the heart of the Framework is the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development.  For decision makers this means that when 
considering development proposals which accord with the development plan, 
they should be approved without delay, but where the development plan is 
absent, silent or relevant policies are out of date, grant planning permission 
unless any adverse impacts would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole.

7.4 Local Plan policy S1a establishes a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development as contained within the NPPF.

Principle of Development 

7.5 Section 8 of the NPPF seeks to achieve healthy, inclusive and safe places 
which, amongst other matters, promotes social interaction, are safe and 
accessible and enable and support healthy lifestyles. 

7.6 Policy CF4 of the Local plan seeks to protect, maintain and enhance existing 
open spaces, buildings and land in order to ensure their continued contribution 
towards the health and well-being of local communities. 

Page 54



5

7.7 The Community Garden is run by volunteers and they have leased the land since 
2019. The Community Gardens charitable objective is to advance the education 
of the public in the subject of horticulture and is open to visiting members of the 
public and volunteers alike. The Community Garden provides a community asset 
for the purposes of horticulture and education. 

7.8 The proposed erection of an additional polytunnel to support the work at the 
Community Garden is considered to be acceptable in principle and compliant 
with Policy CF4. Matters such as design and impact on the heritage asset, 
amenity and access are considered in detail below. 

Design and Impact on the Heritage Asset

    7.9 In relation to the setting of the Grade II* Serpentine Walks Park registered historic 
park, Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990 requires decision makers, in considering whether to grant planning 
permission for the development, which affects a listed building or its setting, to 
have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or 
any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.  In 
addition, Section 72(1) also requires the decision maker, when considering any 
planning application that affects a conservation area to pay special attention to 
the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that 
area.  Accordingly, the Council has a statutory duty to consider the scheme’s 
effect on the setting of the Grade II* Listed Park and Gardens and The Central 
and Park conservation areas.

7.10 Paragraph 193 of the NPPF states that when considering the impact of a 
proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great 
weight should be given to the asset’s conservation (the more important the 
asset, the greater the weight should be). Paragraph 196 requires that where a 
proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a 
designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public 
benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable 
use.

  7.11 Local Plan Policy EQ 7 ‘Built and Historic Environment’ seeks to protect the 
historic environment and conserve heritage assets in a manner appropriate to 
their significance with particular protection being given to Listed Buildings, 
Conservation Areas, Historic Parks and Gardens. Policy EQ 6 seeks to secure 
high quality design in all developments that responds positively to its 
environment and contributes to local distinctiveness and a sense of place by 
taking account of the distinct character, townscape and setting of the area.  

  7.12 The site has been in use as a nursery for the purposes of horticulture for at least 
150 years and was gifted by the 7th Duke of Devonshire to the town for the 
purposes of an ornamental garden and nursery grounds. The continued use and 
maintenance of the Community Garden will be supported by the addition of the 
poly tunnel, which will allow for under-cover growing, on the pre-existing 
concrete base. The polytunnel is lightweight and functional in appearance fitting 
its purpose. Although there may be glimpse views of the polytunnel from the 

Page 55



6

Park and historic gardens to the north, the polytunnel will be seen in the context 
of the surrounding nursery and is screened by trees and planting during the 
spring and summer months.

 
  7.13 The proposal is not therefore considered to harm the nearby Grade II* Listed 

Park or the surrounding Conservation areas to which this site forms a part. The 
development is an appropriate and functional design within the Community 
Garden which would continue to sustain the character of the conservation area 
and is therefore in accordance with Section 16 of the NPPF and local plan 
policies EQ6 and EQ7 in this regard.   

Amenity

 7.14 Local Plan Policy EQ6 stipulates that development should achieve a satisfactory   
relationship to adjacent development and should not cause unacceptable effects 
by reason of visual intrusion, overlooking, shadowing, overbearing or other 
adverse impacts on local character and amenity.  Similarly NPPF para 127(f) 
requires a high standard of amenity for existing and future users’.

 7.15 The polytunnel is sited within the Community Garden grounds and is well 
screened from residential development to the south in Lismore Road by the 
existing boundary treatment comprising a close boarded fence and ground level 
changes. The site sits below the adjacent residential properties in Lismore Road, 
and therefore any glimpsed views of the polytunnel will be from first floor 
windows. 

  7.16 The proposals are not considered to give rise to concerns regarding the impact 
on neighbouring amenity and are therefore in accordance with the provisions of 
local plan policy EQ6 and para 127 of the NPPF in this regard. 

Parking and Access 

7.17 Section 9 of the NPPF and Policy CF 6 of the Local plan seeks to ensure that   
new development can be safely accessed in a sustainable manner and 
minimise the need to travel, particularly by unsustainable modes. The site is 
located within a highly sustainable location within an established Community      
Garden, which is easily accessible by walking and public transport. The site is 
currently accessed via an existing driveway from Burlington Road, which would 
remain unaltered. It is noted that the highway officer raises no objection to the 
development proposals and therefore the proposals do not raise any concerns 
with regards to highway safety and are in accordance with the provision of the 
NPPF and Policy CF6 of the  local plan.  

8. PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSION 

8.1 The proposed development would have no adverse impact on the significance of 
the surrounding Conservation Areas. Indeed, the development, given the context 
in which it would be positioned would continue to sustain the character and 
appearance of the conservation areas and would not harm the setting of the 
adjacent historic garden. There is clear justification for the polytunnel to further 

Page 56



7

support under-cover growing within the Community Garden to the benefit of the 
wider community. It is therefore considered that the proposed development it will 
comply with the relevant policies contained in the High Peak Local Plan 2016 
and the NPPF (2019). 

  
9. RECOMMENDATIONS

A: That planning consent be APPROVED, subject to the following conditions:

Condition Number Brief description Comment
TL02 Time Limit – 3 years

AP01 Approved plans

B In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 
Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add 
conditions/informatives/planning obligations or reasons for approval/refusal) 
prior to the decision being issued, the Head of Development Services has 
delegated authority to do so in consultation with the Chairman of the 
Committee, provided that the changes do not exceed the substantive nature 
of the Committee’s decision.

Site Plan

     

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



1

HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE

Date 22nd March 2021

Application 
No:

HPK/2020/0531

Location Land at Cemetery Road, Glossop
Proposal Variation of Condition 2 relating to HPK/2020/0316
Applicant Glossop North End Juniors AFC
Agent Lisa Harvey LK2
Parish/ward Glossop/Dinting Date registered 4th December 2020
If you have a question about this report please contact: James Stannard, Tel. 
01298 28400 extension 4298, james.stannard@highpeak.gov.uk 

1. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

Approve with Conditions

1. REASON FOR COMMITTEE DETERMINATION

1.1 This application has been brought before the Development Control 
Committee because it relates to Major Development initially approved 
by the Committee under HPK/2019/0273 and subsequently varied 
under HPK/2020/0316

2. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS

2.1 This application relates to an ‘L’ shaped parcel of land measuring 
approximately 0.3ha to the south west of Cemetery Road, 
approximately 1km North West of Glossop town centre.

2.2 The site consists of a number of football pitches, a small single storey 
clubhouse building and a small area of hard standing used for car 
parking, operated by Glossop North End Juniors Association Football 
Club (AFC). Since its birth in 1989 the club has grown to operate 35 
teams with over 450 children now associated with the club, ranging 
from Saturday School programmes up to the Under 21’s and includes 
both male and female teams.

2.3 The site currently benefits from an existing access to Cemetery Road 
in the north eastern corner of the site. A Public Footpath crosses a part 
of the site running from the eastern to the southern boundary.

2.4 Cemetery Road runs parallel with the north eastern boundary of the 
site, with the Cemetery standing on the opposite side of the public 
highway. A sole residential property ‘Arundel House’ lies to the north of 

Page 59

Agenda Item 9



2

the site, whilst to the south and south west are a number of residential 
properties which are associated with the relatively new housing 
development on land off North Road (Reserved Matters approved 
under HPK/2015/0120). The closest properties to the site lie some 40m 
distant from the southern boundary at their closest point. To the west is 
open agricultural land.

2.5 The site is located outside of the built-up area boundary in the 
countryside and sits within the North Derbyshire Green Belt. At its 
closest point, the Peak National Park stands approximately 500m 
distant.

3. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL 

3.1 A previous application (HPK/2019/0273) was approved by Committee 
on 5th November 2019 which included the following aspects of 
development:

 Demolition of existing clubhouse and construction of new single 
storey clubhouse which contains

o 4 x changing rooms;
o 2 x match official changing rooms;
o Toilet facilities;
o Clubroom;
o Kitchen;

 1 x full size 3G Artificial Grass Pitch (AGP);
 1 x 9 v 9 youth grass pitch;
 1 x 11 v 11 grass pitch;
 104 x car parking spaces including 4 x accessible spaces (43 x 

designated spaces and ‘overspill’ car park for 61 cars)
 30 x cycle spaces 

3.2 This application (HPK/2019/0273) was subsequently amended under 
HPK/2020/0316 which showed a reduction in the scale of the 
previously approved clubhouse building. In line with the requirements 
of the club, the facility which originally had 4 x changing rooms was 
reduced to a 2 x changing room facility, with the land adjacent 
purposely left vacant to accommodate a further 2 x changing rooms at 
a later date to suit future requirements.

3.3 This application seeks to vary conditions 2 relating to the latest 
application HPK/2020/0316 consent which requires the development to 
be carried out in accordance with the approved plans as listed on the 
Decision Notice.

3.4 The proposals show a clubhouse that continues to provide a 2 x 
changing room clubhouse facility but with a reduced footprint. As per 
the previous application to vary the original application, the plans show 

Page 60



3

the land immediately adjacent to the northern elevation to remain 
vacant to facilitate a future expansion of the changing room facility as 
well as keeping land to the south vacant to support a future clubhouse 
extension.

3.5 The following plans have been submitted with this application which 
shows an amended design for the clubhouse building with vacant land 
shown to accommodate future additions:

- Site Location Plan (Ref: (03)000-RevA00)
- Proposed Site Layout (Ref: (03)004-RevA11)
- Prelim Floor Layout (Ref: (03)005-RevA04)
- Proposed Elevations (Ref: (03)008-RevA04)

3.6 The application is accompanied by a Supporting Statement which 
includes images of the proposed varied plans and submits that the 
amended design of the clubhouse (60sqm) is more than adequate to 
support all community uses on site and the 2 x changing room facilities.

3.7 It is stated that although the originally larger footprint of the clubhouse 
and changing room facilities building was desirable, it was a non-
essential and moved away from the Football Foundation template and 
that this variation brings the scheme back into line with standard 
requirements.

3.8 The application, the details attached to it including the plans, 
comments made by residents and the responses of the consultees can 
be found on the Council’s website at:

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

4.1 The site has been subject to the following planning history:

HPK/2019/0273 Redevelopment of existing sports facilities including new 
changing facilities/clubhouse and associated car parking, 
full-size artificial pitch. 2no. Grass pitches and relocation 
of vehicular access (Approved 5th November 2019)

HPK/2020/0316 Variation of Condition 2 in relation to HPK/2019/0273 
(Approved 10th November 2020)

5. PLANNING POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION

High Peak Local Plan 2016

S1 Sustainable Development Principles
S1a Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
S5 Glossopdale Sub-area Strategy
EQ2 Landscape Character
EQ3 Rural Development

Page 61



4

EQ4 Green Belt Development
EQ5 Biodiversity
EQ6 Design and Place Making
EQ9 Trees, Woodland and Hedgerows
EQ11 Flood Risk Management
CF4 Open Space, Sports and Recreation Facilities
CF5 Provision and Retention of Local Community Services & Facilities
CF6 Accessibility and Transport

National Planning Policy Framework

Achieving Sustainable Development Chapter 2
Promoting and Healthy and Safe Communities Chapter 8
Promoting Sustainable Transport Chapter 9
Achieving Well Designed Places Chapter 12
Protecting Green Belt Land Chapter 13
Meeting the challenge of climate change and flooding Chapter 14
Conserving and Enhancing the Natural Environment Chapter 15

6. CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT

Site notice Expiry date for comments:  14th January 2021
Neighbour letters Expiry date for comments:    8th September 2020
Press Notice Expiry date for comments:    30th December 2020

Neighbours

6.1 Neighbours were contacted to by way of written letters. No responses 
have been received from neighbours or any other member of the 
general public

Consultee Comment

DCC Lead Local Flooding 
Authority (LLFA)

No comments to make

DCC Highways Authority No comments received

HPBC Tree/Landscape
No objection subject to previous 
landscaping conditions relating to 
HPK/2019/0273 being applied

Derbyshire Wildlife Trust No objections 

HPBC Building Control No comments received

Page 62



5

HPBC Environmental Health No objections 

HPBC Operational Services Fully support application

HPBC Waste No comments received

HPBC Regeneration No comments received

Peak and Northern Footpaths 
Society No comments received

Peak District National Park No comments received

Ramblers Association No comments received

Sport England No objections subject to previous 
conditions relating to HPK/2019/0273

4. POLICY AND PLANNING BALANCE 

Planning Policies

7.1 The determination of a planning application is to be made pursuant to 
section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, 
which is to be read in conjunction with section 70(2) of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990. 

7.2 Section 38(6) requires the local planning authority to determine 
planning applications in accordance with the development plan, unless 
there are material circumstances which 'indicate otherwise'. Section 
70(2) provides that in determining applications the local planning 
authority "shall have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, 
so far as material to the application and to any other material 
considerations." The Development Plan consists of the High Peak 
Local Plan Policies Adopted April 2016.

7.3 Other material considerations include the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF), Supplementary Design Guidance, and National 
Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG). Paragraph 11 of the NPPF explains 
that at the heart of the Framework is the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development.  For decision makers this means that when 
considering development proposals which accord with the development 
plan, they should be approved without delay, but where the 
development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out of date, 

Page 63



6

grant planning permission unless any adverse impacts would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed 
against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole.

Principle of Development & Green Belt

7.4 The site is situated outside the built-up area boundary of any town or 
larger village as defined within the adopted Proposals Map, and 
therefore lies in the open countryside. The site is also situated within 
the North Derbyshire Green Belt.

7.5 As such, the application is subject to Local Plan (LP) Policies EQ3 and 
EQ4 of the Local Plan which refer to Rural Development and Green 
Belt Development respectively.

7.6 LP Policy EQ3 supports development associated with recreational and 
open space uses in accessible and least environmentally sensitive 
locations.

7.7 LP Policy EQ4 requires development proposals in the Green Belt to be 
assessed and determined in line with national policy. Chapter 13 of the 
NPPF (2019) contains the relevant national Green Belt policies that 
apply to this application.

7.8 Paragraph 133 of the NPPF clarifies that the fundamental aim of the 
Green Belt is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently 
open; their essential characteristics being their openness and 
permanence. Paragraph 134 goes on to set out the five purposes of 
the Green Belt:

a) to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas;
b) to prevent neighbouring towns merging in to one another;
c) to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment;
d) to prevent the setting and special character of historic towns;
e) to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of 
derelict and other urban land

7.9 In determining applications, paragraph 143 of the NPPF states that 
inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt 
and should not be approved except in very special circumstances.

7.10 Paragraph 144 of the NPPF goes on to state that substantial weight 
should be given to any harm to the Green Belt. ‘Very Special 
Circumstances’ will not exist unless the potential harm to the Green 
Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm, is clearly 
outweighed by other considerations. 

7.11 Paragraphs 145 and 146 of the NPPF contain a list of the types of 
development which are classified as exceptions to inappropriate 

Page 64



7

development, and thus acceptable in principle. One such exception 
contained at paragraph 145 is:

“the provision of appropriate facilities (in connection with existing use of 
land or a change of use) for outdoor sport, outdoor recreation, 
cemeteries and burial grounds and allotments, as long as the facilities 
preserve the openness of the Green Belt and do not conflict with the 
purposes of including land within it.”

7.12 The application seeks to amend plans that were initially approved 
under HPK/2019/0273 for a major development that encompassed 
various upgrade and improvement works to further facilitate outdoor 
sport and recreation, thereby supporting the aims and objectives of LP 
Policies CF4 and CF5 and in accordance with LP Policy EQ3.

7.13 Sport England have confirmed that they do not object to the proposals 
subject to all conditions relating to the previous application continuing 
to apply.

7.14 Given that the principle of development for the wider large scale 
development has been accepted by virtue of the previous consent 
granted under HPK/2019/0273, and in light of comments received from 
Sport England, the minor reduction in the scale and footprint of the 
proposed clubhouse would preserve the openness of the Green Belt 
and would not conflict with the purpose of including land within it, in 
accordance with LP Policy EQ4 and restrictive policies contained under 
Chapter 13 of the NPPF. The principle of development is therefore 
accepted.

Key Material Considerations

 Landscape and Visual Impacts
 Design
 Public and Residential Amenity
 Ecology
 Flood Risk and Drainage
 Access, Parking Provision and Highway Safety

Landscape and Visual Impacts

7.15 LP Policy EQ3 supports development associated with recreational and 
open space use in accessible and least environmentally sensitive 
locations.

7.16 LP Policy EQ2 requires that development has particular regard to 
maintaining the aesthetic and biodiversity qualities of natural and man-
made features within the landscape. Proposals should be sympathetic 
to and where possible enhance the character and appearance of the 
rural landscape, including the Peak National Park.

Page 65



8

7.17 The site is currently in use as a sport playing pitch and has a relatively 
open character, with boundaries defined by mature hedgerows, 
particularly along the eastern boundary. The site has an extant 
approval for a large-scale major sports development. A detailed 
assessment of the Landscape and Visual Impacts was undertaken in 
conjunction with the Council’s Tree and Landscape Officer and the 
Peak National Park Planning Authority which concluded that the 
landscape and visual impacts of the overall development were 
acceptable.

7.18 The further minor reduction in the scale and footprint of the previously 
approved clubhouse is not considered to result in any material change 
to the landscape and visual impacts of the development of the 
immediate or wider landscape character, in accordance with LP 
Policies EQ2 and EQ3.

Design

7.19 LP Policies S1 and EQ6 set out the design principles of the Borough 
and require that all new development is well designed to respect and 
contribute positively to the character, identity and context of the High 
Peaks townscapes in terms of scale, height, density and layout

7.20 Paragraph 127 states amongst other things that decisions should 
ensure that developments will add to the overall quality of the area; are 
visually attractive as a result of good architecture; and are sympathetic 
to the surrounding built environment.

7.21 The variation to the previously approved scheme sought under this 
application relates to the clubhouse building. The plans show that the 
overall length of the building would be reduced by approximately 10.3m 
comparable to the originally approved building, and shows a further 
reduction of 3.3m in the length of the clubhouse, maintaining a 
consistent width, height and visual appearance.

7.22 These further minor amendments are considered to be material, and 
thus require planning permission. However when read within the 
context of the approved site layout, and given that the height and 
appearance remains consistent, there are no issues in relation to 
design, in compliance with LP Policies S1 and EQ6.

Public and Residential Amenity

7.23 LP Policy EQ6 requires all new development to have a satisfactory 
relationship with existing land and buildings and protects the amenity of 
the area, which includes residential amenity of neighbouring properties. 
Aspects of residential amenity include impacts such as a loss of 
sunlight, overshadowing and overbearing impacts, loss of outlook, and 
loss of privacy.

Page 66



9

7.24 LP Policy EQ10 states that the Council will protect people and the 
environment from unsafe, unhealthy and polluted environments by 
ensuring development avoid potential adverse effects by imposing 
planning conditions that mitigate and strictly control issues such as 
noise, light intrusion

7.25 Paragraph 127 of the NPPF states that planning should create places 
with a high standard of amenity for all existing and future users. 

7.26 Paragraph 180 of the NPPF highlights that planning decisions should 
ensure that new development is appropriate for its location through 
mitigating and reducing noise impacts, and limiting light pollution from 
artificial light on local amenity.

7.27 The previous application was subject to a detailed assessment of the 
potential impacts relating to public and residential amenity. Given that 
there are no proposed changes to operating times of the site including 
the floodlighting that were secured by way of appropriate planning 
conditions, it is considered that the minor amendments proposed under 
this application would not result in any harm with regards to noise or 
light pollution.

7.28 No representations have been made in connection with this application. 
The Site Layout continues to show the existing public footpath that 
crosses the south-eastern part of the site from Cemetery Road to the 
southern boundary to be diverted. A footpath diversion order will be 
required which involves a separate legislative process outside of the 
planning system. However, from the plans and information submitted 
with this application, it is not considered that the users of this footpath 
or indeed its use is compromised by this proposal.

7.29 Subject to the conditions attached to the previous consent, it is 
considered that the application would not result in any harm to the 
public amenity or residential amenity of neighbouring properties, in line 
with LP Policies EQ6 and EQ10 and paragraphs 127 and 180 of the 
NPPF.

Ecology

7.30 LP Policy EQ5 refers to Biodiversity and requires all new developments 
to conserve and enhance any statutory designation and ensure that 
appropriate mitigation measures are implemented to ensure that any 
protected species and habitats are protected. Chapter 15 of the NPPF 
provides the national policy framework for conserving and enhancing 
the natural environment.

7.31 The site lies within a rural location in the open countryside although it is 
not covered by any statutory ecological designation. The applicant has 
submitted an Ecological Impact Report and Bat Activity Report which 
has been reviewed by Derbyshire Wildlife Trust.

Page 67



10

7.32 Derbyshire Wildlife Trust have confirmed that they have no comments 
to make in relation to this proposed amendment and that the conditions 
attached to the previous consent should continue to apply to ensure 
that the application results in a nett gain to biodiversity. It is therefore 
considered that subject to these conditions, the application complies 
with LP Policy EQ5 and relevant policies within Chapter 15 of the 
NPPF.

Flood Risk and Drainage

7.33 LP Policy EQ11 requires that all new development proposals do not 
result in any unacceptable increase in flood risk either on site or in the 
wider locale. Chapter 14 of the NPPF provides the national policy 
context for flooding.

7.34 Whilst the site is not located in an area at risk of flooding, as shown on 
the Environment Agency Flood Map, the applicant had submitted a 
Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) at the request of the Lead Local 
Flooding Authority (LLFA) as part of the previous application. This 
application sees a reduction in the floor area of the built development.

7.35 Commenting on this application, the LLFA has confirmed they have no 
comment to make, and thus it is considered that subject to compliance 
with conditions previously secured under HPK/2019/0273, the 
application would not give rise to any adverse impacts relating to Flood 
Risk or Drainage, either on site or elsewhere in the vicinity, in line with 
LP Policy EQ11 and Chapter 14 of the NPPF.

Access, Parking Provision and Highway Safety

7.36 LP Policy CF6 seeks to ensure that development can be safely 
accessed in a sustainable manner. The policy requires new 
development can be integrated within existing or proposed 
infrastructure, does not lead to an increase in on street parking to the 
detriment of the free and safe flow of traffic, and provides details of 
proposed parking provision based on an assessment of parking need 
and the impact on the surrounding road network.

7.37 Paragraph 108 of the NPPF states that in assessing applications for 
development, it should be ensured that safe and suitable access to the 
site can be achieved for all users. Paragraph 109 goes on to state that 
development should only be prevented or refused on highway grounds 
if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the 
residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.

 
7.38 The proposed reduction in changing room facilities would not result in 

any material change in the number of vehicle movements and as such 
there are not considered to be any adverse impacts to highway safety, 
in accordance with LP Policy EQ6 and paragraph 108 of the NPPF.

Page 68



11

Planning balance & Conclusion

7.39 LP Policy S1a reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development set out within paragraph 11 of the NPPF. For decision 
taking this means approving development proposals that accord with 
an up-to-date development without delay; or where there are no 
relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most 
important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting 
planning permission, unless:

- the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or 
assets of particular importance provides a clear reason for 
refusing the development proposed; or

- any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the 
policies in this Framework taken as a whole.

7.40 The application site lies within the Green Belt. The previously approved 
application under HPK/2019/0273 considered that on balance there 
were very special circumstances (as set out within the planning 
balance section of the previous committee report) that outweighed the 
harm to the openness of the Green Belt as a result of encroachment 
into the open countryside. As such, the minor amendment to the 
clubhouse which sees a reduction in the overall footprint and volume of 
the building does not alter this conclusions, and therefore the 
application complies with LP Policy EQ4 and restrictive policies under 
Chapter 13 of the NPPF.

7.41 An assessment of all material considerations has concluded that the 
further proposed amendment to the clubhouse building would, subject 
to the application of all planning conditions attached to the previous 
decision notice, comply with all relevant local plan policies, and other 
considerations including the NPPF.

7.79 The application is therefore considered to constitute sustainable 
development and in line with LP Policy S1a and paragraph 11 of the 
NPPF. The application is recommended for approval subject to 
appropriate conditions that were applied to HPK/2019/0273 and 
subsequently applied to HPK/2019/0316.

        8. RECOMMENDATIONS

A. APPROVE subject to Conditions

1. Time Limit 3 Years

2. Revised Approved Plans (as submitted with this application)

Page 69



12

3. Samples of materials to be used in construction of clubhouse submitted 
to and agreed in writing by LPA. Carried out in accordance with 
approved details.

4. No development shall commence until Drainage Strategy submitted to 
and agreed in writing by the LPA. Carried out in accordance with 
approved details.

5. Artificial Pitch to be constructed in accordance with detail submitted

6. No development shall commence until Community Use Agreement 
prepared in consultation with Sport England has been submitted to and 
agreed in writing by LPA. Carried out in accordance with approved 
details.

7. No development shall commence until detailed specification of natural 
turf remodelling has been prepared in consultation with Sport England 
submitted to and agreed in writing by the LPA. Carried out in 
accordance with approved details.

8. Floodlighting shall operate in accordance with relevant legislation

9. Use of floodlights restricted to 07:00 – 21:10 every day

10. Use of clubhouse limited to 08:00 – 22:00 Sunday – Thursday and 
08:00 – Midnight Fridays and Saturdays

11. Fencing and rebound panels surrounding pitch shall include anti-rattle 
clips or spacers between mesh and post to reduced noise from ball 
striking

12. No development shall commence until Soft Landscaping scheme to 
include greater level of natural screening on southern and south 
western boundary has been submitted to and agreed in writing by LPA. 
Carried out in accordance with approved details

13. No development to commence until Ecological Enhancement and 
Mitigation Scheme  has been submitted to and agreed in writing by 
LPA. Carried out in accordance with approved details

14 – 21 Recommended Highways Conditions

B. In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 
Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add 
conditions/informative/planning obligations or reasons for 
approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the Head of 
Development Services has delegated authority to do so in consultation 
with the Chairman of the Committee, provided that the changes do not 
exceed the substantive nature of the Committee’s decision.

Page 70



13

This recommendation is made following careful consideration of all the issues 
raised through the application process and thorough discussion with the 
applicants. In accordance with Paragraph 187 of the NPPF the Case Officer 
has sought solutions where possible to secure a development that improves 
the economic, social and environmental conditions of the area.

Site plan

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



1

HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE

Date 22nd March 2021  

Application No: HPK/2020/0553
Location Pavillion Gardens, Buxton
Proposal Listed Building Consent – Repairs to the core buildings 

within the Pavillion Gardens complex
Applicant Parkwood Holdings Ltd on behalf of High Peak Borough 

Council
Agent Bench Architects
Parish/ward Corbar Ward Date registered  29th 

December 2020
If you have a question about this report please contact James Stannard, 
Tel. 01298 28400 extension 4298, james.stannard@highpeak.gov.uk 

1. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

Approve with Conditions

1. REASON FOR COMMITTEE DETERMINATION

1.1 This application has been brought before the Development Control
Committee as the building is owned by High Peak Borough Council.

2. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS

2.1 The application site comprises a cluster of buildings that make up the 
Pavilion Garden complex, north of the Grade II* Historic Park and 
Garden and the River Wye, a short distance from Buxton Town Centre.

2.2 The four Grade II Listed Buildings, which date from 1871 make up the 
Pavilion Gardens complex as follows:

- The Conservatory Grade II
- Central Hall and Attached Promenade Grade II
- The Octagonal Grade II
- The Opera House Grade II*

2.3 The application relates specifically to the Conservatory and Central 
Hall with attached Promenade, the other buildings not being affected.

2.4 The site has experienced numerous changes in its 150 year history 
which have previously been documented in full within a Conservation 
Statement prepared by Plann-It-Limited (April 2016). Relevant extracts 

Page 73

Agenda Item 10



2

of this Statement are contained within the Design, Access and Heritage 
Statement prepared by Bench Architects within Section 6.

3. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL 

3.1 The application seeks Listed Building Consent for a number of repairs 
to the core buildings within the Pavilion Gardens complex. 

3.2 The main repairs are summarised as follows as set out under 
paragraph 9.5 of the Design, Access and Heritage Statement that 
accompanies the application:

General works to all parts of the complex within the application 
boundary 

- Strip all externally exposed structural metalwork back to bare metal 
and decorate using the Octagon colour palette

- As far as practicable, strip all externally exposed decorative metalwork 
back to bare metal. Decorate all externally exposed decorative 
metalwork using the Octagon colour palette

- Prepare and decorate all internally exposed structural and decorative 
metalwork using the Octagon colour palette

- Inspect all lead flashings and other external leadwork, and make good, 
repair or replace as required

- Inspect all external fenestration and joinery and carry out repairs or 
localised replacement of decayed timber. Strip back to bare timber, or 
prepare existing coatings suitably, and decorate using the Octagon 
colour palette.

- Replace broken panes of glass, and remove paint from existing glass 
where panes have been fully painted over

- Where required, decorate internal fenestration and joinery using the 
Octagon colour palette

- Inspect and clean out rainwater goods. Where required, replace like-
for-like or in upgraded materials if modern (e.g. cast iron UPVC)

West Pavilion

- Remove existing non-original patent glazing to upper roof, and replace 
with new double glazed patent glazing

- Rationalise and strengthen existing purlins to upper roof

- Strengthen existing timber ring beams to upper roof

Page 74



3

- Remove decayed modern fenestration to the South elevation at high 
level and install new fenestration to the original arrangement and 
joinery profiles. The profiles indicated are based on detailed measured 
surveys of surviving original joinery fragments carried out by Bench 
Architects, alongside analysis of archive photographic records. While 
the submitted proposals show single glazing as original, consideration 
could be given to the use of slim profile double glazing subject to minor 
modifications of the glazing rebate dimensions.

- Possible reinstatement of the lost original decorative cast iron features 
to the South elevation eaves (cast iron ‘eyebrows’ to the fenestration 
and cast iron column capitals with acanthus leaf detailing. If reinstated, 
patterns would be made for these features using surviving original 
components elsewhere

- Remove non-original patent glazing to lower roof, and replace with new 
purlins and eaves beam to the same moulded profiles previously used 
for the Octagon Reception patent glazed roof

- Sand the historic tongue and grooved maple flooring to remove the 
existing deteriorated coating and water staining. Repair damaged 
areas and reinstate missing boards, like for like. Coat with a suitable 
high durability mid sheen commercial grade lacquer

Shop

- Inspect asphalt flat roof covering. Fit enhanced ventilated perimeter 
details with liquid applied roof coating. Make good areas of deteriorated 
asphalt, or extend liquid roof coating across entire roof area

- Remove existing non-original patent glazing, and replace with new 
double glazed patent glazing

- Strengthen the existing deflecting purlins and eaves beams to the 
patent glazed roof, or remove and replace with new purlins and eaves 
beams to the same moulded profiles previously used for the Octagon 
Reception patent glazed roof

Conservatory Link

- Inspect asphalt flat roof covering. Make good areas of deteriorated 
asphalt.

- Strengthen existing flat roof beams

Conservatory

- Strengthen existing roof purlins

Page 75



4

1930’s Block

- Remove existing accessible WC on the ground floor, and remodel the 
WC and adjacent lobby area in order to create a new ‘Changing Place’' 
facility

3.3 The plans that are subject of assessment within this report are listed
below for ease of reference:

Plans 20216-P-520 Rev A
Ground Floor Plan (West Pavilion) 20216-P-521
Ground Floor Plan (Shop 1 of 2) 20216-P-522 Rev A
Ground Floor Plan (Shop 2 of 2) 20216-P-523 Rev A
Ground Floor Plan (Conservatory Link) 20216-P-524
Ground Floor Plan (Conservatory 1 of 2) 20216-P-525 Rev A
Ground Floor Plan (Conservatory 2 of 2) 20216-P-526 Rev A
Ground Floor Plan (1930’s Block) 20216-P-527
First Floor Plan (West Pavilion) 20216-P-530 Rev A
First Floor Plan (Shop 1 of 2) 20216-P-531 Rev A
First Floor Plan (Shop 2 of 2) 20216-P-532 Rev B
Second Floor Plan (West Pavilion Roof) 20216-P-535

Elevations 20216-P-540 Rev A
North Elevations (Central Pavilion) 20216-P-541 Rev A
South Elevation (Sheet 1 of 7 – West Pavilion) 20216-P-542 Rev A
South Elevation (Sheet 2 of 7 – West Pavilion) 20216-P-543 Rev A
South Elevation (Sheet 3 of 7 – West Pavilion) 20216-P-544 Rev A
South Elevation (Sheet 4 of 7 – West Pavilion) 20216-P-545 Rev A
South Elevation (Sheet 5 of 7 – West Pavilion) 20216-P-546 Rev A
South Elevation (Sheet 6 of 7 – West Pavilion) 20216-P-547 Rev A
South Elevation (Sheet 7 of 7 – West Pavilion) 20216-P-548 Rev A
East Elevation (Central Pavilion) 20216-P-549 Rev A
West Elevation (Central Pavilion) 20216-P-550 Rev A

Section 7 (West Pavilion) 20216-P-560 Rev A
Lower Roof Eaves Detail (West Pavilion) 20216-P-561 Rev A
Lower Roof Purlin Detail (West Pavilion) 20216-P-562 Rev A
Lower Roof Head and Fenestration Sill Detail 20216-P-563 Rev A
Fenestration Sill Detail 20216-P-564 Rev A
Upper Roof Eaves and Fenestration Head Detail 20216-P-565 Rev A
Fenestration Transom Detail (West Pavilion) 20216-P-566
Fenestration Head Detail (West Pavilion) 20216-P-567
Fenestration Plans (West Pavilion) 20216-P-570
Fenestration Plan Details – Fixed Casements 20216-P-571
Fenestration Plan Details – Opening Casements 20216-P-572
Upper Roof Lower Purlin Detail (West Pavilion) 20216-P-575
Upper Roof Lower Purlin Detail (West Pavilion) 20216-P-576
Upper Roof Apex Detail (West Pavilion) 20216-P-577
Upper Roof Box Detail (West Pavilion) 20216-P-578
Patent Glazing Bar Detail (West Pavilion and Shop) 20216-P-579 Rev A

Section 8 (Shop) 20216-P-580
Patent Glazed Roof Eaves Detail (Shop) 20216-P-581 Rev A
Patent Glazed Roof Purlin Detail (Shop) 20216-P-582
Patent Glazed Roof Head and Flat Roof Eaves Detail            20216-P-583
Flat Roof Abutment Detail (Shop/Pavilion Centre) 20216-P-584 Rev A

Page 76



5

Flat Roof Abutment Detail (Shop/Pavilion Centre Truss Plates    20216-P-585 Rev A
Flat Roof Abutment Detail (Shop/West Pavilion)    20216-P-586 Rev A
Flat Roof Abutment Detail (Shop/Central Pavilion)    20216-P-587

Sections 12 and 13 (Conservatory link and conservatory) 20216-P-590

Sections 9 (Shop)            20216-P-595
Draught lobby section (Shop) 20216-P-596
Draught lobby internal elevation (Shop)            20216-P-597
Air curtain internal elevation (Shop) 20216-P-598

3.4 The application can be viewed at the following link

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKI
D=244730 

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

4.1 The site has been subject to a long planning history. The following 
applications represent the planning history within the last 10 years that 
refer specifically to the buildings subject to this application:

HPK/2015/0516 Proposed erection of temporary structure to 
accommodate different events – subsequently removed 
(Approved)

HPK/2016/0492 Listed Building Consent for repair and refurbishment of 
the Octagon and associated buildings (Approved)

HPK/2018/0121 Listed Building Consent for repair, conservation and 
redecoration of existing window and door joinery and 
isolated stone repairs (Approved)

HPK/2019/0230 Listed Building Consent for new entrance lobby within the 
tea room (Pending)

HPK/2019/0231 Listed Building Consent for glazed screen and double 
doors to main entrance (Pending)

5. PLANNING POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION

High Peak Local Plan 2016

S1 Sustainable Development Principles
S1a Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
S7 Buxton Sub-area Strategy
EQ7 Built and Historic Environment

Page 77

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=244730
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=244730


6

Adopted Supplementary Planning Documents

Buxton Conservation Areas Character Appraisal 2007

Revised National Planning Policy Framework 2019

Achieving Sustainable Development Chapter 2
Achieving Well Designed Places Chapter 12
Conserving and Enhancing the Historic Environment Chapter 16

6. CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT

Site notice Expiry date for comments: 15th February 2021

Neighbour letters Expiry date for comments: 21st January 2021

Press Notice Expiry date for comments: 28th January 2021

Neighbours

6.1 A single representation from ‘The Buxton Group’ has been received in 
connection with the application which makes reference to the following:

- Poor quality of previous works carried out
- Concern that the supporting Statement refers to fenestration being in 

reasonable decorative order (Section 8.8) and that there are in fact 
many areas of decay, rot and missing paint.

- Urges the Council to critically inspect the condition of the conservatory 
and revise the scheme accordingly so that the full repair and 
restoration of this building will be completed to a high and lasting 
standard

Consultees

6.2 The following table shows the comments received from relevant 
statutory consultees: 

Consultee Comments

HPBC Conservation Officer
No objection subject to detailed 
conservation and design conditions.

Application to carry our repair and 
maintenance to this Grade II Listed Building, 
continuing a phased programme which 
recently saw the completion of the 
restoration and reordering of the Octagon. 
The work is being specified and overseen by 
the same firm of architects who have been 

Page 78



7

involved in various works to the building 
over the last 6 years. The application follows 
a condition survey in 2019.

Section 9 of the Heritage Statement 
describes the proposed works arising from 
the condition survey and the continuation of 
the phased refurbishment and is based on a 
detailed understanding of the historic fabric 
and building significance. The most visible 
and significant elements will be the 
continuation of the historic painting scheme 
and new structural elements and 
strengthening. Whilst the drawings identify 
areas where upgrading will need to take 
place it is noted that some of the structural 
engineering will need to be subject to further 
detailed investigation and opening up and 
this will require Conditions to be attached for 
details to be submitted at an appropriate 
time. These timing conditions will need to be 
discussed with the architect so that the 
works are no unduly delayed.

Conditions:
 Schedule of repair 

works/replacement to external 
fenestration and joinery

 Submit sample of replacement glass
 Replacement rainwater goods to be 

cast iron to match the historic profile
 Submit details of double-glazed 

patent system
 Method of strengthening purlins to 

upper roof and ring beam in West 
Pavilion and details of 
strengthening/replacing purlins and 
eaves elsewhere

 Details of missing decorative cast 
iron features to south elevation eaves

 Details of ventilation to the shop
 Submit final details of the changing 

places facility
DCC Archaeology No objections subject to a condition 

requiring the archive recording of the 
scheme to be submitted to Derbyshire 
Record Office. 

Ancient Monument Society No objection. The overall impact of the 
proposed works will enhance the 

Page 79



8

significance of the designated heritage
assets and are part of a rolling programme 
of maintenance and repair work that are 
generally compliant with the management 
policies in the 2006 Conservation 
Statement.
Whilst some historic building fabric will be 
lost as a result of upgrading the glazing 
system to the Pavilion, we recognise this is 
needed to meet current building and safety 
standards, and the works are consistent with 
those of the recently restored Octagon.

7. POLICY AND PLANNING BALANCE 

Planning Policies

7.1 The determination of a planning application is to be made pursuant to 
section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, 
which is to be read in conjunction with section 70(2) of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990. 

7.2 Section 38(6) requires the local planning authority to determine 
planning applications in accordance with the development plan, unless 
there are material circumstances which 'indicate otherwise'. Section 
70(2) provides that in determining applications the local planning 
authority "shall have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, 
so far as material to the application and to any other material 
considerations." The Development Plan consists of the the High Peak 
Local Plan Policies Adopted April 2016.

7.3 Other material considerations include the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) and National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG). 
Paragraph 11 of the NPPF explains that at the heart of the Framework 
is the presumption in favour of sustainable development.  For decision 
makers this means that when considering development proposals 
which accord with the development plan, they should be approved 
without delay, but where the development plan is absent, silent or 
relevant policies are out of date, grant planning permission unless any 
adverse impacts would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a 
whole.

Principle of Development

7.4 This listed building application seeks consent for various works to 
support the maintenance and ongoing upkeep of the Pavilion Gardens, 
one of most iconic buildings within Buxton Town Centre. The proposals 
form part of an overall schedule of repair and maintenance works to the 
Pavilion Garden complex, following the successful completion of the 

Page 80



9

comprehensive restoration of the Octagon concert hall. The Spatial 
Strategy for Buxton recognises that the historic character and 
distinctiveness of Buxton are key to the success of the town as a 
thriving tourist destination. The overarching vision of the Place Making 
Strategy is for Buxton to become England’s leading spa town at the 
heart of the Peak District. 

7.5 Local Plan policy S7 states that the Council and its partners will seek to 
establish Buxton as England’s leading spa town and consolidate its 
role as the principal service centre for the Peak District. This will be 
achieved by protecting and enhancing the unique character of Buxton’s 
spa heritage, townscape and natural environment to maintain the 
quality of life and act as a catalyst for tourism. 

7.6 As the site relates to a Listed Building, the application must 
demonstrate compliance with Local Plan Policy EQ7, and relevant 
paragraphs contained under Chapter 16 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework and Section 66(1) of the Town and Country Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (The Act). Section 
66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990 requires decision makers, in considering whether to grant 
consent for development, which affects a listed building or its setting, to 
have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its 
setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which 
it possesses

.
Impact on Listed Buildings

7.7 Paragraph 192 of the NPPF advises that in determining applications, 
Local Planning Authorities should take account of:
A) The desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of 

heritage assets and putting them to viable uses consistent with their 
conservation;

B) The positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can 
make to sustainable communities including their economic viability; 
and

C) The desirability of new development making a positive contribution 
to local character and distinctiveness.

7.8 Paragraphs 193 and 194 of the NPPF state that when considering the 
impact of a proposed development on the significance of a designated 
heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s 
conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the weight 
should be). This is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts 
to substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its 
significance.

7.9 Paragraph 195 of the NPPF set outs that where a proposal will lead to 
substantial harm or total loss of a designated heritage asset, local 

Page 81



10

planning authorities should refuse consent unless there are substantial 
public benefits that outweigh that harm. Where a development proposal 
will lead to less than substantial harm, this harm should be weighed 
against the public benefits.

7.10 Local Plan Policy EQ 7 ‘Built and Historic Environment’ seeks to 
protect the historic environment and conserve heritage assets in a 
manner appropriate to their significance with particular protection being 
given to Listed Buildings, Conservation Areas, Historic Parks and 
Gardens.

7.11 The Design, Access and Heritage Statement provides a very detailed 
assessment of the significance of each Listed Building and an analysis 
of the current condition of each building. It is clear that the most visible 
and significant elements are in the form of the historic painting scheme, 
new structural elements and strengthening works. Much of the 
proposed work is necessary in order to address either gradual fabric 
decay or deficiencies in the design or construction of the original 
building fabric, and will be carried out sensitively using appropriate 
materials and with minimal loss of historic fabric. Opportunities have 
been explored to both reinstate lost original details, and implement 
discreet improvements to weathertightness, thermal performance and 
other technical criteria.

7.12 Where more substantial changes are proposed, for example the 
replacement of the high level South elevation fenestration on the West 
Pavilion, or the replacement of the existing patent glazing, the 
proposals will enhance the significance of the historic building through 
the removal of poor quality modern materials and replacement with
carefully detailed and higher quality materials.

7.13 The Conservation Officer has reviewed the works and wholly supports 
the proposals, subject to the imposition of a number of conditions. The 
proposed works will undoubtedly result in the overall enhancement of 
the of buildings that form the Pavilion Gardens and also contribute 
positively to the setting of the adjacent Grade II* Pavilion Gardens 
Historic Park. 

7.14 In addition to the visual enhancement of the buildings, there will also be 
additional public benefits with regards to the overall impression of the 
building for visitors to the town. Overall, it is considered that the 
schedule of works will preserve the special architectural and historic 
features of the buildings and make a positive contribution towards the 
local character and distinctiveness of Buxton. 

7.15 As such, it is concluded that subject to appropriate detailed conditions, 
the precise wording of which is to be agreed with the applicant, the 
proposed development will enhance the significance of the buildings 
thereby complying with Local Plan Policy EQ7, relevant national 

Page 82



11

policies contained under Chapter 16 of the NPPF, and Section 66 of 
the Act.

Other Matters

7.16 The County Archaeologist raises no objection the proposals, but 
requests that a condition be imposed to secure an archive recording of 
the scheme to be deposited to the Derbyshire Record Office. This can 
be secure by a condition.   

7.17 A representation received from the Buxton Group challenges the 
decorative condition of the fenestration of the completed work 
elsewhere in the complex and urges the Council carry out detailed 
inspections of completed work. Whilst these comments are noted, the 
proposed works will undoubtedly enhance the visual, historic, and 
aesthetic quality of the buildings. Moreover, it is noted that both the 
Councils Conservation Officer and the Ancient Monument Society are 
wholly supportive of the proposals. 

8. CONCLUSION

8.1 This application seeks approval for works required to facilitate the 
ongoing maintenance and repair of a Grade II listed building. The 
works will ensure that long term condition of the buildings is secured, to 
the wider benefit of the Buxton. The development as whole serves to 
support the significance of an important heritage asset and sustain the 
historic and architectural importance of the Pavilion Garden Complex. 
The works will result in the enhancement of the building that better 
reveals its historic significance which has an overall positive 
contribution to its setting and the wider town, thereby supporting the 
aims of Local Plan Policies S7 and EQ7, relevant paragraphs under 
Chapter 16 of the NPPF, and Section 66 of the Act.

9. RECOMMENDATIONS

A. That Listed Building consent be granted, subject the following 
conditions:

1. Development to begin within 3 years

2. Approved Plans

3-11 Conditions requested by HPBC Conservation Officer

12 Recording condition requested by DCC Archaeology

B. In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 
Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add 

Page 83



12

conditions/informatives/planning obligations or reasons for 
approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the Operations 
Manager – Development Services has delegated authority to do so in 
consultation with the Chairman of the Committee, provided that the 
changes do not exceed the substantive nature of the Committee’s 
decision.

This recommendation is made following careful consideration of all the issues 
raised through the application process and thorough discussion with the 
applicants. In accordance with Paragraph 38 of the NPPF the Case Officer 
has sought solutions where possible to secure a development that improves 
the economic, social and environmental conditions of the area.

Site Plan

Page 84



1

HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE

Date 22nd March 2021

Application 
No:

HPK/2020/0388

Location Lowfoot Farm, Redgap Lane, Buxton
Proposal Extension of stable block and part change of use to form cattery 
Applicant Laura Perkins
Agent Andy Smith, AJS Architecture
Parish/ward N/A/Stone Bench Date registered 16th September 2020
If you have a question about this report please contact: James Stannard, Tel. 
01298 28400 extension 4298, james.stannard@highpeak.gov.uk 

1. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

Refuse

1. REASON FOR COMMITTEE DETERMINATION

1.1 This application has been brought before the Development Control 
Committee because the applicant is related to a High Peak Councillor.

2. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS

2.1 The application site relates to a cluster of building and surrounding land 
that form Lowfoot Farm. The site is accessed via a poorly maintained 
agricultural track which extends some 300m south west from the public 
highway, which is a defined public right of way, and serves the 
farmhouse building and a larger agricultural building to the rear. The 
agricultural building has consent for the parking of six heavy goods 
vehicles (HGV’s) and two trailers.

2.2 The site access forms a junction with Redgap Lane, a poorly  
maintained adopted, but un-classified single track rural lane that has an 
average width of approximately 4.2m. It provides access to the site 
from the nearest classified road Waterswallows Road, that lies 
approximately 1km to the north. 

2.3 The cluster of buildings that complete the Lowfoot Farm complex is a 
detached residential dwelling at the top of the access track, an ancillary 
detached garage, a single storey stable block, an adjacent agricultural 
building, and a larger more substantial agricultural building beyond 
referenced above.

Page 85

Agenda Item 11



2

2.4 The application relates specifically to the existing stable block and the 
wider area of hard standing that surrounds it. The stable block is 
constructed of stone with a tiled roof and eight individual stables in a 
rectangular form, spanning a width of approximately 5.2m and a length 
of approximately 32.5m, reaching a height of 3.2m.

2.5 For the purposes of the Local Plan, the site lies outside of the built-up 
area boundary in the open countryside and in the Plateau Pastures 
Landscape Character Area (LCA).

3. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL 

3.1 The application seeks consent to retain 4 x stable compartments within 
the existing stable block building, and to change the use of the 
remaining part of the existing structure, together with creating a new 
adjoining structure to house a cattery business. 

3.2 Following a request for additional information, the applicant’s agent has 
confirmed that the applicant currently operates an independent dog 
walking business from the site, and that the existing stable block is 
solely in personal use. The information also confirms that CTPerkins 
haulage company has an operating licence for 6 x vehicles with 5 
drivers employed, parking for staff provided in an area beyond the 
stable block building to the rear of the larger agricultural building.

3.3 The floor plans submitted shows the provision of 2 x staff parking 
spaces together with 7 x visitor spaces. However, this contradicts the 
further information provided by the agent, which states that the sole 
member of staff would be the applicant.

3.5 The business will be run on an appointment basis which will be 
controlled by the applicant for the ‘dropping off’ and ‘picking up’ of 
animals in order to minimise vehicle movements at particular times of 
day. It is stated that appointment times would never be at a time when 
a HGV is moving along the line, with this existing operation taking 
place in early mornings and late evenings.

3.6 The proposed cattery would see the creation of 20 x cattery ‘pens’ 
which are supplemented by a Reception Room; Services Room; Office; 
and 2 x Cattery Care Rooms, connected via a corridor that links the 
existing stable block with the newly constructed building of similar 
scale, height, massing and materials. 

3.7 The applicant’s agent has confirmed that the Care Rooms would 
facilitate cats when they are ill and require isolation. Soft Landscaping 
is shown to be intermittent between the car parking provided.

3.8 The application can be viewed online using the following link 
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServle
t?PKID=242531 

Page 86

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=242531
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=242531


3

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

4.1 The site has been subject to the following planning history:

HPK/0002/5491 7 x Holiday Cottages (Approved 26/08/1987)

HPK/0003/1972 Renewal consent for HPK/0002/5491 
(Approved 28/10/1992)

HPK/2001/0590 Conversion of redundant farm house and diary buildings 
to form 7 x Holiday Cottages (Refused 07/02/2002)

HPK/2006/0036 Conversion of redundant farm house and diary buildings 
to form 7 x Holiday Cottages (Refused 06/03/2006) – 
Appeal Dismissed 16/05/2006

HPK/2006/0092 Two storey side extension to form garaging and family 
room over (Refused 27/03/2006)

HPK/2006/0530 Detached Garage (Approved 18/08/2006)

HPK/2013/0095 Proposed Change of Use to Goods Vehicles and Trailer 
Operating Centre (Refused 07/06/2013)

HPK/2013/0343 Change of Use of agricultural building to storage of 
wagons (Approved 22/08/2013)

HPK/2013/0516 Variation of Condition relating to HPK/2013/0343 
(Approved 12/12/2013)

HPK/2015/0577 Variation of Condition relating to HPK/2013/0516 to park 
6 x HGV’s and 2 x trailers (Approved 04/05/2016)

HPK/2020/0483 Rear Single Storey Extension with Flat Roof 
(Approved 19/01/2021)

5. PLANNING POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION

High Peak Local Plan 2016

S1 Sustainable Development Principles
S1a Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
S2 Settlement Hierarchy
S7 Buxton Sub-area Strategy
EQ3 Rural Development
EQ6 Design and Place Making
E1 New Employment Development
CF6 Accessibility and Transport

Page 87



4

National Planning Policy Framework 2019

Achieving Sustainable Development Chapter 2
Building a Strong Competitive Economy Chapter 6
Promoting Sustainable Transport Chapter 9
Achieving Well Designed Places Chapter 12
Conserving and Enhancing the Natural Environment Chapter 15

6. CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT

Site notice Expiry date for comments:  23rd October 2020
Neighbour letters Expiry date for comments:  9th October 2020
Press Notice Expiry date for comments:  N/A

Neighbours

6.1 Neighbours were contacted to by way of written letters. No responses 
have been received from neighbours or any other member of the 
general public

Consultee Comment

AES Waste No objection.

HPBC Environmental Health No objections

HPBC Tree/Landscape No objections subject to condition

DCC Highways I note that the stables have not been 
used for livery and, as a consequence, 
won’t have had regular visits by other 
owners etc.

It’s stated that Goods vehicle 
Operators license is in place for 6no. 
HGV’s and movement of these is 
restricted to start and finish of the day.

I note that there are to be no 
employees for the cattery business, 
other than the owner living on site, and 
that it will be run on an appointment 
basis only. Whilst this would be likely 
to reduce the likelihood of vehicles 
associated with the development 

Page 88



5

proposals travelling in opposite 
directions on Redgap Lane, it’s not 
clear if the appointments will be timed 
in order that those arriving for an 
appointment will be clear of those 
leaving from the previous one. 
Obviously, trip generations will be 
significantly lower if the cattery is for 
caring for extended overnight periods 
when owners are away rather than, 
say, hourly pamper periods.

Unfortunately, there are no Street-View 
images available for Redgap Lane, 
however, my recollections of this road 
from my limited visits in the past are 
that it’s generally of single vehicle 
width with few formal passing 
opportunities. I trust that you will have 
visited more recently and if it’s 
considered that there is ‘width for 
vehicles to pass without concern’ then 
there would be no highway objection. 
On the other hand, if intervisible 
passing opportunities are restricted, I’d 
recommend that any Consent requires 
a Condition for submission of details 
for approval for operation of the 
development restricting employment to 
those living on site (in accordance with 
the further information provided) and 
clarifying how the appointments are to 
be timed in order to reduce the 
likelihood of owners vehicles 
approaching/ leaving the site at the 
same time

4. POLICY AND PLANNING BALANCE 

Planning Policies

7.1 The determination of a planning application is to be made pursuant to 
section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, 
which is to be read in conjunction with section 70(2) of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990. 

7.2 Section 38(6) requires the local planning authority to determine 
planning applications in accordance with the development plan, unless 
there are material circumstances which 'indicate otherwise'. Section 

Page 89



6

70(2) provides that in determining applications the local planning 
authority "shall have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, 
so far as material to the application and to any other material 
considerations." The Development Plan consists of the High Peak 
Local Plan Policies Adopted April 2016.

7.3 Other material considerations include the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF), Supplementary Design Guidance, and National 
Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG). Paragraph 11 of the NPPF explains 
that at the heart of the Framework is the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development.  For decision makers this means that when 
considering development proposals which accord with the development 
plan, they should be approved without delay, but where the 
development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out of date, 
grant planning permission unless any adverse impacts would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed 
against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole.

Principle of Development

7.4 The application seeks consent for the extension of an existing stable 
block and the change of use for part of the stable block and the newly 
created extension building to a cattery business (i.e. a building that 
facilitates the accommodation of members of the public pets for a 
designated period of time).

7.5 Whilst there are some inconsistencies with regards to the amount of 
staff that would manage the operation, it is nevertheless appears to be 
commercial enterprise. Local Plan (LP) Policy S1 seeks to support the 
local economy and businesses by providing a range of economic 
development that provide employment opportunities suitable for local 
people in sustainable locations.

7.6 LP Policy E1 supports the creation of new employment premises in the 
open countryside subject to compliance with LP Policy EQ3.

7.7 LP Policy EQ3 aims to strictly control development in the open 
countryside to preserve the intrinsic character of the rural landscape. 
The policy supports rural employment in the form of home working, 
commercial enterprises and live-work units where a rural location can 
be justified.

7.8 The site lies in the open countryside accessed via a single relatively 
poorly maintained farm track which is also a public footpath from 
Redgap Lane, an adopted but non-classified single track. Redgap lane 
is poorly maintained in places with few passing places, approximately 
1km south of the nearest classified road, Waterswallows Road. 

7.9 The agricultural building to the south west of the existing stable block 
was granted planning permission for the storage of HGV’s under 

Page 90



7

HPK/2013/0343 which was subsequently varied under HPK/2015/0577 
to store 6 x HGV’s and two trailers. Officer Comments within the 
Delegated Report stated that “any further expansion is unlikely to be 
supported as Red Gap Lane is a single width rural road and unsuitable 
for large scale HGV movements”

7.10 Whilst the Council accept that the provision of a pet accommodation 
business such as a dog kennels or cattery should generally be located 
in rural or sparsely populated areas given the inevitable noise and 
odour impacts, it is nevertheless important to encourage and support 
such uses in sustainable rural locations on the edge of settlements, 
with excellent connections to adopted classified roads and the public 
transport network. In this case the site is located nearly 2.7km from the 
junction of Waterswallow Road and the A6, where public transport 
opportunities and footpaths can be found. In contrast, Redgap lane is 
an unlit and restricted width rural road with no footways, therefore any 
customers using the facilities would inevitably arrive by car. There are 
no alternative modes of transport which can access the site other than 
the private car.  

7.11 It is considered that the provision of a commercial enterprise, 
particularly of the scale proposed, that could theoretically and 
realistically result in up to 40 x vehicle movements per day (20 x drop 
off journeys in a morning and 20 x pick up journeys in the evening) will 
lead to a significant intensification of the site in an unsustainable 
location. In addition to the existing lawful HGV storage facility, the 
proposes development would lead to a significant number of additional 
vehicle movements along Redgap Lane, a single track unclassified 
road with very few passing places and which is poorly maintained. 

7.12 The applicant has suggested that conditions can be applied to allow 
vehicle movements to be controlled, by way of appointments. However, 
such conditions are not considered to be realistically enforceable (for 
example if customers are running late) and indeed, even if 
appointments are adhered to, it does not alter the fact that the proposal 
introduces a commercial business that relies on visitors, who will arrive 
by car, in a wholly remote, isolated and unsustainable location.

7.13 As such, it is concluded that whilst the proposed use can in general 
terms be justified in a rural location, the proposed use in this specific  
location cannot be justified, due to its remoteness from the built-up 
area, its poor relationship with the classified highway network, and the 
intensification of a site that is already the subject of HGV parking. 

7.14 The application is therefore considered to be in conflict with LP Policies 
S1, E1 and EQ3 and is not supported as a matter of planning principle.

Key Material Considerations

 Design Character and Appearance

Page 91



8

 Public and Residential Amenity
 Access, Parking Provision and Highway Safety
 Trees

Design Character and Appearance

7.15 LP Policy EQ3 refers to rural development proposals which lie outside 
of the defined built-up area boundaries and seeks to ensure that new 
development is strictly controlled to protect the landscape’s intrinsic 
character and distinctiveness. The policy supports extensions and 
alterations to existing buildings provided they are subsidiary to the 
building and do not have an adverse impact on the character of the 
landscape.

7.16 Paragraph 127 of the NPPF states amongst other matters, that new 
developments should add to the overall quality of the area, be visually 
attractive as a result of good architecture and sympathetic to the 
surrounding built environment.

7.17 The application includes the construction of a new building that would 
be connected to the existing stable block building, connected by a 
corridor, which displays many of the characteristics of the existing 
stable block. The proposed extension is of a similar height, massing, 
scale and visual appearance that relates well to the existing building 
and can be said to be subordinate and subsidiary.

7.18 Notwithstanding the fact that the application cannot be supported as a 
matter of principle given the nature of the proposed use and its  
isolated rural location, it is considered that proposed design of the 
extension would be in keeping with its immediate surroundings and 
would not result in any adverse harm to the immediate or wider rural 
landscape, in accordance with LP Policies S1, EQ3 and EQ6, and 
paragraph 127 of the NPPF.

Public and Residential Amenity

7.19 LP Policy EQ6 requires all new development to have a satisfactory 
relationship with existing land and buildings, to protect the amenity of 
the area. Aspects of residential amenity include impacts such as a loss 
of sunlight, overshadowing and overbearing impacts, loss of outlook, 
and loss of privacy.

7.20 Paragraph 127 of the NPPF states that planning should create places 
with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users.

7.21 The site access from Redgap Lane is also designated as a public right 
of way. Whilst there would clearly be an increase in the amount of 
vehicle movements along this access track, it is not considered that the 
amenity or safety of users of this footpath would be adversely affected 
to the extent that would warrant a reason for refusal.

Page 92



9

7.22 Given its isolated location, with the nearest residential dwelling being in 
excess of 150m from the site it is considered that the proposed use 
would not result in any harm to the living conditions of any 
neighbouring property with regards to noise or any other impacts. It is 
noted that the Environmental Health Officer raises no objection to the 
development proposals. 

7.23 As such, notwithstanding the reason for refusal relating to the principle 
of development, the application complies with LP Policy EQ6 and 
paragraph 127 of the NPPF in this regard.

Access, Parking Provision and Highway Safety

7.24 LP Policy CF6 seeks to ensure that all development can be safely 
accessed in a sustainable manner and that new development is 
located where it can be satisfactorily accommodated within the existing 
highway network. Proposals should minimise the need to travel 
particularly by unsustainable modes of transport.

7.25 Paragraph 108 of the NPPF states that in assessing applications for 
development, a safe and suitable access should be achieved for all 
users. Paragraph 109 goes on to state that development should only 
be prevented or refused on highway grounds if there would be an 
unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative 
impacts on the road network would be severe.

7.26 The proposed use shows provision for 7 x visitor parking spaces and 2 
x staff car parking spaces. This level of parking provision is considered 
to be acceptable to serve the proposed use, especially given that there 
is further capacity within the extensive area of hard standing that lies to 
the north of the proposed extension to accommodate further parking if 
required.

7.27 The Highways Officer has not been able to visit the site due to COVID-
19 restrictions and has stated that there are no objections should it be 
considered that Redgap Lane has sufficient width for vehicles to pass 
‘without concern’. The comments then go on to suggest that if passing 
places are restricted, suitable conditions would be needed to be 
imposed to limit visits to the premises by appointment only with 
clarification on how these appointments would be timed/staggered to 
ensure appropriate vehicle flows can be maintained along the Redgap 
lane.

7.28 It is the case that Redgap Lane is largely a single track typically of a 
width of 4.2m with very few passing places. Whilst this width is not 
commensurate with a classified road, the entrance into the site has 
sufficient visibility splays to ensure that vehicles can safely access and 
exit the site. The conditions suggested by the Highways Authority are 

Page 93



10

considered to be unenforceable as the timing of individual vehicle trips 
in the event of customers running late cannot be controlled.

7.29 It is evident that the site lies in a remote location whereby Policy CF6 
seeks to ensure that new development minimises the need to travel by 
unsustainable modes of transport. Whilst there would be no harm to 
highway safety, it remains that the site is positioned in an isolated 
location with poor accessibility, other than by the private car, to other 
modes of transport. Moreover, the site is remote from the classified 
highway network, with no opportunities to promote alternative and 
sustainable transport modes. Therefore, the development would fail to 
comply, in part, with the objectives of LP Policy CF6 and paragraph 
108 of the NPPF.

Trees

7.30 LP Policy EQ9 seeks to protect existing trees, woodland and hedgerow 
and requires new development proposals where appropriate to provide 
tree planting and soft landscaping. Chapter 15 of the NPPF contains 
the relevant local plan policies relating to the conservation and 
enhancement of the natural environment.

7.31 Whilst there are trees within the wider site that are protected by a Tree 
Preservation Order (TPO), the Tree Officer is satisfied that a condition 
to control the method of construction of the car parking areas would  
mitigate any potential harm to any trees. As such, the proposed 
development, notwithstanding the reason for refusal relating to the 
principle of development, would not harm any trees in line with LP 
Policy EQ9 and Chapter 15 of the NPPF. 

Planning balance & Conclusion

7.32 LP Policy S1a reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development set out within the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF).

7.33 Paragraph 11 of the NPPF sets out the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development. For decision taking, this means approving 
development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development 
plan without delay; or, where there are no relevant development plan 
policies, or the policies which are most important for determining the 
application are out-of-date, granting permission, unless:

- the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or 
assets of particular importance provides a clear reason for 
refusing the development proposed; or

- any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the 
policies in this Framework taken as a whole.

Page 94



11

7.34 Relevant strategic Local Plan policies for the distribution of 
employment land are considered to be up-to-date and as such can be 
given full weight in the determination of the application.

7.35 An assessment of the application has concluded that whilst in general 
terms, this type of development is well suited to a rural location, without 
any harm to the character of the area and residential amenity, its 
unsustainable location and poor accessibility to other sustainable 
modes of transport would result in an unsustainable form of 
development. 

7.36 The application is therefore found to conflict with Local Plan Policies 
S1, EQ3, CF6 and E1 and is not supported as a matter of principle.

7.37 In line with LP Policy S1a and paragraph 11 of the NPPF, the 
application is considered to constitute an unsustainable form of 
development and is recommended for refusal for the reasons set out 
on the decision notice.

        8. RECOMMENDATIONS

A. REFUSE for the following reason:

1. The proposed development, by virtue of its scale, its remote and 
isolated location along an unlit and single width rural road, with poor 
accessibility to sustainable modes of transport would result in an 
unsustainable form of development. The application is therefore found 
to conflict with Local Plan Policies S1, CF6, EQ3 and E1 and 
comprises an unsustainable form of development, contrary to Local 
Plan Policy S1a and paragraph 11 of the NPPF.

B. In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 
Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add 
conditions/informative/planning obligations or reasons for 
approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the Operations 
Manager – Development Services has delegated authority to do so in 
consultation with the Chairman of the Committee, provided that the 
changes do not exceed the substantive nature of the Committee’s 
decision.

This recommendation is made following careful consideration of all the issues 
raised through the application process and thorough discussion with the 
applicants. In accordance with paragraph 38 of the NPPF the Case Officer 
has sought solutions where possible to secure a development that improves 
the economic, social and environmental conditions of the area. However in 
this case, it is considered that the location and accessibility of the site is 
unsuitable for the development. 

Page 95



12

Site plan

Page 96


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	5 Planning Applications
	6 HPK/2020/0515 Mount Pleasant Chapel, Spring Bank, New Mills, Derbyshire, SK22 4AS - Redevelopment of the existing ruined chapel into Use Class E 'Business, Commercial and Service' on the ground floor and two dwellings on the ground and first floor. Demolition includes: Unsafe elements of structure including the remains of the existing roof, rear chimney and the top of the walls to the rear Sunday school building. Rear wall of the chapel building, to enable construction access. Clearing of the interior of the buildings of scrub and detritus from the fire down to good ground and HPK/2020/0459 - Co-Op Fields Rear of Mount Pleasant, Spring Bank, New Mills, Derbyshire, SK22 4AS<br/>Construction of temporary compacted gravel access road via Aldersgate across land owned by New Mills Town Council know as Co-op Fields rear of Mount Pleasant Chapel, Spring Bank. Construction of compacted gravel level area for site office, welfare facilities and storage of equipment for duration of the build. Rem
	7 HPK/2021/0006 Land across the road from 3 Silk Hill. Buxworth, Derbyshire- Retrospective permission for a shed with a non permanent base measuring 12 sqr meters to replace existing greenhouse
	8 HPK/2021/0005 Serpentine Community Gardens, Serpentine Walk, off Burlington Walk, Buxton - erection of a Polytunnel
	9 HPK/2020/0531 Land at Cemetery Road, Glossop - Variation of Condition 2 relating to HPK/2020/0316
	10 HPK/2020/0553 Pavilion Gardens, Buxton - Listed Building Consent - Repairs to the core buildings within the Pavilion Gardens complex
	11 HPK/2020/0388 - Lowfoot Farm, Redgap Lane, Buxton - Extension of stable block and part change of use to form cattery

